

Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hip

Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline

Adopted by: The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Board of Directors December 1, 2023

Endorsed by:



Disclaimer

This clinical practice guideline (CPG) was developed by a physician volunteer clinical practice guideline development group based on a formal systematic review of the available scientific and clinical information and accepted approaches to treatment and/or diagnosis. This clinical practice guideline is not intended to be a fixed protocol, as some patients may require more or less treatment or different means of diagnosis. Clinical patients may not necessarily be the same as those found in a clinical trial. Patient care and treatment should always be based on a clinician's independent medical judgment, given the individual patient's specific clinical circumstances.

Disclosure Requirement

In accordance with AAOS policy, all individuals whose names appear as authors or contributors to the clinical practice guideline filed a disclosure statement as part of the submission process. All panel members provided full disclosure of potential conflicts of interest prior to voting on the recommendations contained within this clinical practice guideline.

Funding Source

This clinical practice guideline was funded exclusively by the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons who received no funding from outside commercial sources to support the development of this document.

FDA Clearance

Some drugs or medical devices referenced or described in this clinical practice guideline may not have been cleared by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or may have been cleared for a specific use only. The FDA has stated that it is the responsibility of the physician to determine the FDA clearance status of each drug or device he or she wishes to use in clinical practice.

Copyright

All rights reserved. No part of this clinical practice guideline may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form, or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior written permission from the AAOS. If you wish to request permission, please contact the AAOS Department of Clinical Quality and Value at orthoguidelines@aaos.org.

Published December 1, 2023 by the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons 9400 Higgins Road Rosemont, IL 60018 First Edition Copyright 2023 by the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons



To View All AAOS and AAOS-Endorsed Evidence-Based clinical practice guidelines and Appropriate Use Criteria in a User-Friendly Format, Please Visit the OrthoGuidelines Web-Based App at www.orthoguidelines.org or by downloading to your smartphone or tablet via the Apple and Google Play stores



Contents

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS	6
TRANEXAMIC ACID	6
POSTOPERATIVE PHYSICAL THERAPY	6
PHYSICAL THERAPY AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT	7
INTRAARTICULAR CORTICOSTEROID INJECTION	7
INTRAARTICULAR HYALURONIC ACID	7
PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: NSAIDs	8
CEMENTED VS. CEMENTLESS FEMORAL FIXATION	8
EXPOSURE APPROACH	8
SUMMARY OF OPTIONS	9
BMI: ADVERSE EVENTS	9
BMI: CLINICAL OUTCOMES	9
PRESCRIPTION OPIOID AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT	10
DIABETES: ADVERSE EVENTS	10
SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH	10
PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: ACETAMINOPHEN	11
HIP-SPINE RELATIONSHIP	11
NEURAXIAL VS. GENERAL ANESTHESIA	11
ТОВАССО	12
DEVELOPMENT GROUP ROSTER	13
VOTING MEMBERS	13
NON-VOTING MEMBERS	13
AAOS STAFF	13
INTRODUCTION	14
METHODS	16
LITERATURE SEARCHES	16
DEFINING THE QUALITY OF EVIDENCE	16
DEFINING THE STRENGTH OF RECOMMENDATION	17
UNDERSTANDING THE QUALITY OF EVIDENCE AND STRENGTH OF STATEMENT	
Table I. Strength and Quality Descriptions	
Table II. Interpreting the Strength of a Recommendation or Option	
REVIEW PERIOD	
THE AAOS CPG APPROVAL PROCESS	19

REVISION PLANS	19
CPG DISSEMINATION PLANS	19
Study Attrition Flowchart	21
RECOMMENDATIONS	22
	22
POSTOPERATIVE PHYSICAL THERAPY	24
PHYSICAL THERAPY AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT	26
INTRAARTICULAR CORTICOSTEROID INJECTION	28
INTRAARTICULAR HYALURONIC ACID	
PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: NSAIDs	
CEMENTED VS. CEMENTLESS FEMORAL FIXATION	
EXPOSURE APPROACH	35
OPTIONS	
BMI: ADVERSE EVENTS	
BMI: CLINICAL OUTCOMES	
PRESCRIPTION OPIOID AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT	40
DIABETES: ADVERSE EVENTS	42
SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH	44
PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: ACETAMINOPHEN	47
HIP-SPINE RELATIONSHIP	48
NEURAXIAL VS. GENERAL ANESTHESIA	50
ТОВАССО	52
APPENDICES	54
Appendix I: References	54
Appendix II: PICO Questions and Inclusion Criteria Used to Define Literature Search	65
Appendix III: Literature Search Strategy	67
Appendix IV: Guideline Development Group Disclosures	79

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations are formed when there is sufficient evidence by which to create a directional statement. This is defined as evidence from two or more high quality studies (i.e., a strong recommendation), two or more moderate quality studies (i.e., a moderate recommendation), or statements resulting in a strong or moderate strength following Evidence to Decision Framework upgrading and/or downgrading.

TRANEXAMIC ACID

High Quality evidence supports that tranexamic acid (TXA) should be considered for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip who are undergoing total hip arthroplasty (THA) to reduce blood loss and the need for blood transfusions.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

POSTOPERATIVE PHYSICAL THERAPY

High quality evidence supports either formal physical therapy or unsupervised home exercise after total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate (Downgraded) Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

PHYSICAL THERAPY AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT

Physical therapy could be considered as a treatment for patients with mild to moderate symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip to improve function and reduce pain.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

INTRAARTICULAR CORTICOSTEROID INJECTION

Intraarticular corticosteroids could be considered to improve function and reduce pain in the short-term for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate (Downgraded) Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

INTRAARTICULAR HYALURONIC ACID

Intraarticular hyaluronic acid should not be considered for treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip as it does not improve function or reduce pain better than placebo.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: NSAIDs

When not contraindicated, oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs) should be used to reduce pain and improve function in the treatment of symptomatic hip osteoarthritis.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

CEMENTED VS. CEMENTLESS FEMORAL FIXATION

Low quality evidence suggests in older adult patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic osteoarthritis, cemented femoral stems could be considered as they are associated with a lower risk of periprosthetic fracture.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Moderate ***** (Upgraded)

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was upgraded based on EtD framework.

EXPOSURE APPROACH

High quality evidence supports that there are specific risks and benefits to each surgical approach and that there is not a preferred surgical approach for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip undergoing total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate (Downgraded) Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

SUMMARY OF OPTIONS

Options are formed when there is little or no evidence on a topic. This is defined as low quality evidence or a single moderate quality study (i.e., a limited strength option), no evidence or only conflicting evidence (i.e., a consensus option), or statements resulting in a limited or consensus strength following Evidence to Decision Framework upgrading and/or downgrading.

BMI: ADVERSE EVENTS

Limited evidence suggests that elevated BMI may increase the risk of adverse events in patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic hip osteoarthritis.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited ******

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

BMI: CLINICAL OUTCOMES

Limited evidence supports that patients with elevated BMI and symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip may achieve lower absolute patient reported outcome scores but a similar degree of improvement in patient satisfaction, pain, function, and quality of life after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited

PRESCRIPTION OPIOID AS CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that oral opioids not be utilized for nonoperative treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: Consensus

Strength of Option: Consensus

There is no supporting evidence, or limited level evidence was downgraded due to major concerns addressed in the EtD framework. In the absence of reliable evidence, the guideline work group is making a recommendation based on their clinical opinion.

DIABETES: ADVERSE EVENTS

Limited evidence suggests that patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip and poorly controlled diabetes may be at a higher risk for adverse events after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

Limited evidence suggests that social determinants of health (e.g., education, income level, food desert, insurance type) may negatively impact length of stay, total cost of care, and mortality after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited

PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: ACETAMINOPHEN

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that when not contraindicated, oral acetaminophen may be considered to improve pain and function in the treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: Consensus Strength of Option: Consensus

There is no supporting evidence, or limited level evidence was downgraded due to major concerns addressed in the EtD framework. In the absence of reliable evidence, the guideline work group is making a recommendation based on their clinical opinion.

HIP-SPINE RELATIONSHIP

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that patients with osteoarthritis of the hip and stiff spine syndrome may be at increased risk of dislocation after total hip arthroplasty compared to patients without stiff spine syndrome.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Consensus ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Option was downgraded based on EtD framework.

NEURAXIAL VS. GENERAL ANESTHESIA

Limited evidence suggests that neuraxial anesthesia may be used to reduce adverse events in patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip undergoing total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited

TOBACCO

Limited evidence suggests that patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip who use tobacco products may be at an increased risk for adverse events after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited ******

VOTING MEMBERS

Charles Hannon, MD, MBA Co-Chair, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Ronald Delanois, MD, FAAOS Co-Chair, The Hip Society Nicolas Brown, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Michael Cibulka, DPT American Physical Therapy Association Michele D'Apuzzo, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Charles Davis, MD, PhD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Stuart Fischer, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Sumon Nandi, MD, MBA, FAAOS American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons Jennifer Pierce, MD American College of Radiology Luis Pulido, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Ajay Srivastava, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Creighton Tubb, MD, FAAOS American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Eric Walker, MD, MHA American College of Radiology Joseph Zeni, PT American Physical Therapy Association

NON-VOTING MEMBERS

Yale Fillingham, MD, FAAOS Oversight Chair, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons

AAOS STAFF

Jayson Murray, MA Managing Director, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS

Kaitlyn Sevarino, MBA, CAE Director, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS

Frank Casambre, MPH Manager, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS

Jennifer Rodriguez, MBA Manager, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS Kevin Jebamony, MPH Research Analyst, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS

Anne McGivney, MPH Research Analyst, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS

Tyler Verity *Medical Research Librarian, Clinical Quality and Value, AAOS*

INTRODUCTION

OVERVIEW

This clinical practice guideline is based on a systematic review of published studies examining the treatment of osteoarthritis (OA) of the hip in adults. It provides recommendations that will help practitioners integrate the current evidence and clinical practice. It also highlights gaps in the literature in need of future research. This guideline is intended to be used by trained physicians and clinicians who manage the surgical and non-surgical treatment of OA of the hip. It also serves as an informational resource for developers and applied users of clinical practice guidelines.

GOALS AND RATIONALE

The purpose of this clinical practice guideline is to evaluate the current best evidence associated with treatment. Evidence-based medicine (EBM) standards advocate for use of empirical evidence by physicians in their clinical decision making. To assist with access to the large resources of information, a systematic review of the literature in publication was conducted between August 2022 and August 2023. It highlights where there is good evidence, where evidence is lacking, and what topics future research will need to target to help facilitate evidence-based decision making in the treatment of patients with OA of the hip. AAOS staff methodologists assisted the physician/clinician work group in evaluating the existing literature so that they could formulate the following recommendations based on a rigorous systematic process. Musculoskeletal care is provided in many different settings and by a variety of providers. We created this guideline as an educational tool to guide qualified physicians and clinicians in making treatment decisions that improve the quality and efficacy of care. This guideline should not

be construed as including all possible methods of care or excluding acceptable interventions similarly directed at obtaining favorable outcomes. The final decision to use a specific procedure must be made after assessing all concerns presented by the patient and consideration of locality-specific resources.

INTENDED USERS

This guideline is intended to be used by orthopaedic surgeons and other healthcare providers managing OA of the hip. It serves as an information resource for medical practitioners. In general, individual practicing physicians and clinicians do not have the resources required to complete a project of comparable scope and duration involving the evaluation of an extensive literature base. In April 2019, the AAOS adopted the use of the GRADE Evidence-to-Decision Framework into its clinical practice guideline development methodology. This Framework enables work group members to incorporate additional factors into the strength of each recommendation and move away from the rigidity of previous AAOS recommendation language stems. The AAOS intends for this guideline to assist treatment providers not only in making shared clinical decisions with their patients, but also in describing to patients and their loved ones why a selected intervention represents the best available course of treatment. This guideline is not intended for use as a benefits determination document. It does not cover allocation of resources, business and ethical considerations, and other factors needed to determine the material value of orthopaedic care. Users of this guideline may also want to consider the appropriate use criteria (AUC) related to the treatment of OA of the hip.

PATIENT POPULATION

This guideline is intended for use with adult patients (ages 18 years and older) who have been diagnosed by a trained healthcare provider with OA of the hip and are undergoing treatment.

SCOPE

The scope of this guideline includes non-surgical treatment and surgical treatment with total hip arthroplasty of symptomatic OA of the hip. It does not provide recommendations for patients diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis, OA of other joints, hip dysplasia, or other inflammatory arthropathies. It does not provide recommendations for surgical interventions less invasive than total hip arthroplasty.

ETIOLOGY

The etiology of OA is multifactorial arising from several complex biological processes that lead to abnormal tissue metabolism and degradation of cartilage.

INCIDENCE AND PREVALENCE

The global prevalence of hip OA is estimated at 7.2% (Fan 2023). The global incidence of hip OA is estimated at 2 million people or 7.8 per 1000 person-years (James 2023, Arslan 2022). The incidence and prevalence of OA of the hip have risen over time and is expected to continue to do so, particularly as life expectancy and obesity rates continue to rise.

BURDEN OF DISEASE

In 2013, OA of any joint was the primary diagnosis for 23.7 million ambulatory care visits. OA of the hip accounts for 14% of all hospital discharges related to OA and 6% of all physician office visits for OA (Hochberg 2014). The lifetime costs for persons diagnosed with hip OA are over \$180,000 (Kunkel 2018). Women are disproportionately affected with OA (including hip) represent 78% of the patients diagnosed with OA between 2008 and 2014.

EMOTIONAL AND PHYSICAL IMPACT

OA of the hip leads to significant functional impairment interfering with quality of life. In addition to the physical impact, OA influences emotional wellbeing and mental health with a reported 19% of patients with OA diagnosed experience anxiety and depression (Stubbs 2016). As a result of the physical and emotional impacts, older adults with OA seek medical care more frequently and experience greater functional limitations compared to aged-matched controls. Patients with OA of the hip and knee have 20% excess mortality compared to age-matched controls (March 2016). As life expectancy and rates of obesity increase, the emotional and physical impact of OA of the hip will continue to be widespread.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS, HARM, AND CONTRAINDICATIONS

Patients with OA of the hip present with increased pain, decreased mobility, decreased function, and decreased quality of life. The aim of treatment of OA of the hip is to reduce pain, improve function, and secondarily improve quality of life. All treatments are associated with risks for adverse outcomes, especially operative intervention, and must be considered for each patient. Contraindications and risks vary widely by treatment. In addition, each patient presents with certain risks, modifiable or non-modifiable, that should be considered by the patient and physician when making treatment decisions. When possible, modifiable risk factors should be addressed as reducing risks improve treatment efficacy. Ultimately, treatment decisions for OA of the hip should be made through a shared decision-making process with the physician and patient after discussing the unique risks and benefits of a specific treatment for that patient.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE PRESENT AND PREVIOUS GUIDELINES

This updated clinical practice guideline replaces the first edition that was completed in 2017, "Treatment of OA of the Hip." This update considered the literature that we previously examined as well as the empirical evidence published since the 2017 guideline. In April 2019, the AAOS adopted the use of the GRADE Evidence-to-Decision Framework into its clinical practice guideline development methodology. This Framework enables work group members to incorporate additional factors into the strength of each recommendation and move away from the rigidity of previous AAOS recommendation language stems. The complete listing of inclusion criteria for this guideline is detailed in the section, "Inclusion Criteria," (Appendix II).

METHODS

The methods used to perform this systematic review were employed to minimize bias and enhance transparency in the selection, appraisal, and analysis of the available evidence. These processes are vital to the development of reliable, transparent, and accurate clinical recommendations. To view the full AAOS clinical practice guideline methodology please visit https://www.aaos.org/quality/researchresources/methodology/.

This clinical practice guideline evaluates the management of osteoarthritis of the hip patient outcomes. The AAOS approach incorporates practicing physicians (clinical experts) and methodologists who are free of potential conflicts of interest relevant to the topic under study, as recommended by clinical practice guideline development experts.¹

This clinical practice guideline was prepared by the AAOS Osteoarthritis of the Hip Guideline physician development group (clinical experts) with the assistance of the AAOS Clinical Quality and Value (CQV) Department (methodologists). To develop this clinical practice guideline, the clinical practice guideline development group held an introductory meeting on August 21st, 2022, to establish the scope of the clinical practice guideline. As the physician experts, the clinical practice guideline development group defined the scope of the clinical practice guideline by creating PICO Questions (i.e., population, intervention, comparison, and outcome) that directed the literature search. The AAOS Medical Librarian created and

executed the search (see Appendix III for search strategy).

LITERATURE SEARCHES

The systematic review begins with a comprehensive search of the literature. Articles considered were published prior to the start date of the search in a minimum of three electronic databases; PubMed, EMBASE, and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials. The medical librarian conducts the search using key terms determined from the guideline development group's PICO questions.

A CQV methodologist will review/include only primary literature but will supplement the electronic search with a manual search of the bibliographies of secondary literature sources, such as systematic reviews, as available. The methodologist will then evaluate all recalled articles for possible inclusion based on the study selection criteria and will summarize the evidence for the guideline work group who assist with reconciling possible errors and omissions.

A study attrition diagram is provided in the Methods section of each document that details the numbers of identified abstracts, recalled, and selected studies, and excluded studies that were evaluated in the CPG. The search strategies used to identify the abstracts are also included in the Appendix of each CPG document.

DEFINING THE QUALITY OF EVIDENCE

The quality of evidence for a recommendation is determined by the quality and quantity of included literature for the statement. Statements with evidence from two or more "High" quality studies are considered to have "High Quality Evidence". Statements with evidence from two or more "Moderate" quality studies, or evidence from a single "High" quality study are considered to have "Moderate Quality Evidence". Statements with evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study are considered to have "Low Quality Evidence". Statements with evidence from one "Low" quality study or no supporting evidence are considered to have "Very Low Quality Evidence" or "Consensus" respectively.

DEFINING THE STRENGTH OF RECOMMENDATION

Judging the quality of evidence is only a steppingstone towards arriving at the strength of a CPG recommendation. The strength of recommendation also takes into account the quality, quantity, and the trade-off between the benefits and harms of a treatment, the magnitude of a treatment's effect, and whether data exists on critical outcomes.

Strength of recommendation expresses the degree of confidence one can have in a recommendation. As such, the strength expresses how possible it is that a recommendation will be overturned by future evidence. It is very difficult for future evidence to overturn a recommendation that is based on many high quality randomized controlled trials that show a large effect. It is much more likely that future evidence will overturn recommendations derived from a few small retrospective comparative studies. Consequently, recommendations based on the former kind of evidence are given a "strong" strength of recommendation and statement based on the latter kind of evidence are presented as options to the practicing clinician, rather than a directional recommendation, with either a "limited" strength or, in the event of no supporting or only conflicting evidence, a "consensus" strength.

VOTING ON THE RECOMMENDATIONS

The recommendations and their strength were voted on by the guideline development group members during the final meeting. If disagreement between the guideline development group occurred, there was further discussion to see whether the disagreement(s) could be resolved. Recommendations were approved and adopted in instances where a simple majority (60%) of the guideline development group voted to approve; however, the guideline development group had consensus (100% approval) when voting on every recommendation for this guideline. Any recommendation strength upgrade or downgrade based on the Evidence-to-Decision Framework requires a super majority (75%) approval of the work group.

UNDERSTANDING THE QUALITY OF EVIDENCE AND STRENGTH OF STATEMENT

Statement Strength	Evidence Quality	Statement Description	Strength Visual
Strong	High*	Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings recommending for or against the intervention. Or Rec is upgraded using the EtD framework.	****
Moderate	Moderate*	Evidence from two or more "Moderate" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "High" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Or Rec is upgraded or downgraded using the EtD framework.	****
Limited	Low*	Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Or Rec is downgraded using the EtD framework.	****
Consensus*	Very Low, or Consensus*	Evidence from one "Low" quality study, no supporting evidence, or Rec is downgraded using the EtD framework. In the absence of sufficient evidence, the guideline work group is making a statement based on their clinical opinion.	****

Table I. Strength and Quality Descriptions

*Unless statement was upgraded or downgraded in strength, using the EtD Framework.

Strength of Statement	Patient Counseling (Time)	Decision Aids	Impact of Future Research
Strong	Least	Least Important, unless the evidence supports no difference between two alternative interventions	Not likely to change
Moderate	Less	Less Important	Less likely to change
Limited	More	Important	Change possible/anticipated
Consensus	Most	Most Important	Impact unknown

Table II. Interpreting the Strength of a Recommendation or Option

REVIEW PERIOD

Following the final meeting, the CPG draft undergoes a 3-week review period for additional input from external content experts. Written comments are provided on the structured review form. All reviewers are required to disclose their conflicts of interest.

Specialty societies relevant to the topic are solicited for nominations of individual reviewers approximately six weeks before the final meeting. The review period is announced as it approaches, and others interested are able to volunteer to review the draft. The chairs of the guideline work group review the draft of the guideline prior to dissemination.

Some specialty societies (both orthopaedic and nonorthopaedic) ask their evidence-based practice (EBP) committee to provide review of the guideline. The organization is responsible for coordinating the distribution of our materials and consolidating their comments onto one form. The chair of the external EBP committees provides disclosure of their conflicts of interest (COI) and manages the potential conflicts of their members.

Again, the AAOS asks for comments to be assembled into a single response form by the specialty society and for the individual submitting the review to provide disclosure of potentially conflicting interests. The review stage gives external stakeholders an opportunity to provide evidence-based direction for modifications that they believe have been overlooked. Since the draft is subject to revisions until its approval by the AAOS Board of Directors as the final step in the guideline development process, confidentiality of all working drafts is essential.

The CPG is also provided to members of the AAOS Board of Directors (BOD), members of the Research and Quality Council (RQC), members of the Board of Councilors (BOC), and members of the Board of Specialty Societies (BOS) and members of the Committee on Evidence-Based Quality and Value (EBQV) for review and comment. The CPG is automatically forwarded to the AAOS BOD, RQC, and EBQV so that they may review it and provide comment prior to being asked to approve the document. Based on these bodies, over 200 commentators have the opportunity to provide input into each CPG.

The chairs of the guideline work group, the manager of the AAOS CQV unit, and the Director of AAOS CQV draft the initial responses to comments that address methodology. These responses are then reviewed by the chair and co-chair, who respond to questions concerning clinical practice and techniques. All comments received and the initial drafts of the responses are also reviewed by all members of the guideline development group. All proposed changes to recommendation language as a result of the review period are based on the available evidence that met inclusion criteria. Final revisions are summarized in a report that is provided alongside the guideline document throughout the remainder of the approval processes and final publication.

The AAOS believes in the importance of demonstrating responsiveness to input received during the review process and welcomes the critiques of external specialty societies. Following final approval of the guideline, all individual responses are posted on our website http://www.aaos.org/quality with a point-by-point reply to each non-editorial comment. Reviewers who wish to remain anonymous notify the AAOS to have their names de-identified; their comments, our responses, and their COI disclosures are still posted.

THE AAOS CPG APPROVAL PROCESS

This final clinical practice guideline draft must be approved by the AAOS Committee on Evidence Based Quality and Value, and subsequently the AAOS Research and Quality Council, and the AAOS Board of Directors. These decision-making bodies are described in the OAH CPG eAppendix I. Their charge is to approve or reject its publication by majority vote.

REVISION PLANS

This clinical practice guideline represents a crosssectional view of current treatment and may become outdated as new evidence becomes available. This clinical practice guideline will be revised in accordance with new evidence, changing practice, rapidly emerging treatment options, and new technology. This clinical practice guideline will be updated or withdrawn in five years.

CPG DISSEMINATION PLANS

The primary purpose of the present document is to provide interested readers with full documentation of the best available evidence for various procedures associated with the topic of this review. Publication of most clinical practice guidelines is announced by an Academy press release, articles authored by the clinical practice guideline development group and published in the Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, and articles published in AAOS *Now*. Most clinical practice guidelines are also distributed at the AAOS Annual Meeting in the Resource Center. he final guideline recommendations and their supporting rationales will be hosted on www.OrthoGuidelines.org.

Selected clinical practice guidelines are disseminated by webinar, the AAOS Learning Management System (LMS), Media Briefings, and by distributing them at relevant Continuing Medical Education (CME) courses and at the AAOS Resource Center.

Study Attrition Flowchart



RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations are formed when there is sufficient evidence by which to create a directional statement. This is defined as evidence from two or more high quality studies (i.e., a strong recommendation), two or more moderate quality studies (i.e., a moderate recommendation), or statements resulting in a strong or moderate strength following Evidence to Decision Framework upgrading and/or downgrading.

TRANEXAMIC ACID

High quality evidence supports that tranexamic acid (TXA) should be considered for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip who are undergoing total hip arthroplasty (THA) to reduce blood loss and the need for blood transfusions.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

Rationale

Based on the available evidence, both intravenous (IV) and topical tranexamic acid (TXA) have shown significant positive effects on various outcomes in patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty. One high-quality article by Rizzo (2020) indicated that the combination of IV and topical TXA had significantly positive effects on hemoglobin levels and reduced the number of transfusions required.

Thirteen studies, including nine high-quality (Fraval 2019, Fraval 2017, Zufferey 2017, Xu 2019, Imai 2012, Niskanen 2005, Juraj 2021, Benoni 2001, Clave 2019), one moderate-quality (Na 2016), and three low-quality studies (Mahmood 2017, Konarski 2022, Akti 2022), investigated the effects of IV TXA alone. The majority of these studies (nine high-quality, one moderate-quality) found significantly positive effects of IV TXA on various outcomes, including reduced blood loss, decreased number of transfusions, lower amounts of blood transfused, improved hemoglobin levels, reduced drainage, and decreased complication rates.

Four articles were identified that studied the effects of topical TXA alone, including three high-quality and one low-quality studies. These studies collectively demonstrated that topical TXA also had significantly positive effects on blood loss, number of transfusions, hemoglobin levels, drainage, and complication rates.

One study by Chin (2020) which was a moderate-quality study on IV TXA did not find any significant effects on the outcomes mentioned above. However, this study's reliability is compromised due to missing key information, such as the patient demographics and group characteristics, which may limit the validity of its conclusions.

Furthermore, Fraval (2017) and Fraval (2019) conducted two high-quality studies with similar methodologies, the latter including additional deep vein thrombosis (DVT) chemoprophylactics (Enoxaparin and Aspirin). Both studies found no significant effects of TXA on patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) or functional outcomes.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

While there is concern that there may be contraindications to the use of TXA, none of the papers cited above demonstrated an increased risk of adverse events related to the perioperative use of TXA for total hip arthroplasty (THA).

Outcome Importance

Reducing blood loss and transfusion rates after total hip arthroplasty has a major impact on improving outcomes, reducing complications, and improving value.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

Reductions in perioperative blood loss and transfusion rates improve perioperative recovery, costs related to transfusion, and utilization of limited resources.

Acceptability

Some stakeholders may have concerns regarding the risk/benefit profile of tranexamic acid in higher risk patients with vascular disease, coronary stents, and thromboembolic disease. However, prior retrospective studies have found tranexamic acid use to be safe in these high-risk patients (Porter 2020). Randomized, prospective trials to address these concerns would be beneficial.

Future Research

Randomized, prospective trials comparing IV TXA, topical TXA, and oral TXA are warranted to specifically assess dosing, technique and timing of administration, uniform measures of perioperative blood loss, cost, including impact on blood transfusion, and contraindications. Studies focused on refining dosing recommendations and risks/benefits in higher risk patients may be of particular value.

High quality evidence supports either formal physical therapy or unsupervised home exercise after total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

The strength of recommendation was downgraded to moderate for several reasons including heterogeneity in the duration, timeframe, types of modalities and interventions, and frequency of the physical therapy interventions in these studies, making direct comparisons and definitive conclusions difficult. There were few studies that compared a progressive outpatient physical therapy program against an active placebo group in the three months after surgery, which is the time frame of interest for most surgeons.

Three high quality articles, one moderate quality article, and one low quality article showed that patients who underwent formal physiotherapy had a significant positive outcome on at least one of the following: Hip Disability and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (HOOS), Short Form 12-Item Survey (SF-12), Western Ontario McMaster Universities Arthritis Index (WOMAC), 5-Level EuroQuol 5 Dimension self-report survey (EQ-5D), 6-Minute Walk Test, Stair Climb Test, Figure-of-Eight Test, Sit-to-Stand Test, range of motion (ROM), and strength when compared to unsupervised exercise, home-based therapy, or usual care. Specifically, Monaghan (2017) (highquality) had significant positive results for the 6-Minute-Walk Test and self-reported function. Heiberg (2012) (high-quality) showed evidence of improved walking and stair climbing ability and these benefits persisted 1 year after surgery. Mikkelsen 2014 (high-quality) showed significant Stair Climb Test and maximal walking speed outcomes in the intervention group compared to the control group.

Two high quality articles and one moderate quality article showed no significant difference in outcomes between guided physiotherapy or unguided home exercises. It is important to note that one high quality article (Coulter 2017) only examined early recovery up to four weeks and the other high-quality article (Austin 2017) only evaluated self-reported outcome measures and the Harris Hip Score and did not include performance-based outcomes.

In reviewing the quantity of articles in favor of supervised physical therapy versus those that showed no difference, there was a slight favor for formal physical therapy after surgery. There were no studies that demonstrated unsupervised exercise was superior to supervised physical therapy. Additional research is warranted before a high strength of recommendation can be provided.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

There is concern that recommending home exercise after surgery may limit the recovery of patients who need a more structured and supervised rehabilitation program to achieve optimal outcomes. At this point, there are no formal guidance measures to identify patients who may have an acceptable outcome with home exercise versus supervised physical therapy. A home program in which patients do not routinely interact with a health care professional after surgery may also result in delayed or missed negative sequalae after surgery.

Outcome Importance

The impact of exercise, mobility, and physical activity is an important aspect of postoperative recovery and should be a part of postoperative care, regardless of the manner in which it is implemented.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

While there is a cost associated with supervised physical therapy, these costs are a relatively small portion of the total course of peri- and postoperative care. Cost-benefit analyses that have not been conducted with regard to this recommendation are warranted in future research.

Acceptability

Structured physical therapy is commonly prescribed for patients after THA. Some stakeholders may have concerns that there is no guidance as to which patients are likely to have equivalent outcomes with unsupervised exercise after total hip arthroplasty (THA).

Feasibility

There are no major concerns related to the feasibility of implementing this recommendation.

Future Research

Future research is warranted to obtain a better understanding of the benefit of physical therapy after THA. Current evidence is mixed, showing either a benefit to physical therapy or no difference when compared to unsupervised home exercise. Future studies should include intervention groups with an individualized plan of care and progressive rehabilitation programs, and study outcomes should include both short- and long-term performance-based and self-reported measures. Studies that provide evidence as to which patients are likely to succeed without formal physical therapy are needed.

Physical therapy could be considered as a treatment for patients with mild to moderate symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip to improve function and reduce pain.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

The strength of recommendation was downgraded to moderate for several reasons including heterogeneity in the types of modalities and interventions provided in intervention groups and heterogeneity in the frequency, duration, and intensity of interventions.

Fifteen articles (thirteen high-quality, one moderate-quality, and one low-quality) disagreed whether physical therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip (OAH) had statistically significant positive outcomes when compared to a control group. Eight articles concluded there was either no significant difference in primary outcomes, or slight non-significant improvements in the intervention group (mainly with patient reported outcomes) (Bennell 2014, Beselga 2016, Pisters 2010, Steinhilber 2017, Svege 2016, Teirlinck 2016, Thompson 2020) while the other seven articles concluded that physical therapy significantly improved outcomes when compared to a control group (Fernandes 2010, French 2013, Koybasi 2010, Olsen 2022, Poulsen 2013, Svege 2015, Tak 2005).

In the high and moderate quality studies that found physical therapy was beneficial, there were significant improvements in hip flexion, Patient Global Assessment, Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) Pain, and Western Ontario McMaster Arthritis Index (WOMAC) in more than one article. There were also improvements to 5m Walking Test, range of motion (ROM), Balance Step Test, Body Awareness Rating Scale Movement Quality and Experience (BARS-MQE), Chair Stand Test, 15m Walking Test, Harris Hip Score (HHS), Hip Abduction, Hip Adduction, Hip Extension, Hip Internal Rotation, Hip Disability and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (HOOS), Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP), Patient-Oriented Physical Function McMaster Toronto Arthritis Patient Preference Questionnaire (MACTAR), Physiotherapy Outpatient Survey, Reported Recovery, Self-Paced 40m Walk, Sickness Impact Profile, and Timed-Up-and-Go-Test were illustrated in at least one of the articles.

While there was disagreement among the studies as to whether supervised physical therapy was superior to control groups, there were no studies that found that physical therapy resulted in worse outcomes.

Most studies failed to stratify results or subject selection based on osteoarthritis severity, which may have contributed to the overall disagreement among studies as to whether physical therapy was effective. Few studies compared a comprehensive physical therapy program to a placebo group, instead many studies focused on a singular intervention (e.g., core strengthening, ultrasound, mobilizations, etc.).

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Patients who are candidates for conservative treatment may benefit from physical therapy to improve range of motion, reduce pain, and improve function. Most studies did not stratify participants based on Kellgren-Lawrence grade or structural severity of osteoarthritis, making it unclear if physical therapy is beneficial for all patients, or

just those earlier in the course of osteoarthritis. It is possible that patients with end-stage disease may not receive functional benefit from physical therapy, despite the cost and time associated with rehabilitation.

Outcome Importance

Participation in physical therapy may improve a wide range of outcomes, including range of motion, pain, functional performance, walking speed, and self-reported functional ability.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

There is limited comparative data on the cost effectiveness of physical therapy for patients with osteoarthritis of the hip as part of conservative management.

Acceptability

This recommendation should be readily implemented as it does not reflect a major change in clinical practice. Physical therapy is commonly recommended for patients with mild to moderate hip osteoarthritis and physical therapists should be familiar with the condition and appropriate interventions to address physical impairments and functional deficits associated with hip OA.

Feasibility

Physical therapy as an option for conservative management should be feasible for most stakeholders.

Future Research

Future research is necessary to draw stronger conclusions about the benefit of physical therapy for patients with hip osteoarthritis. Future studies should stratify results based on osteoarthritis. Future studies also need to compare comprehensive physical therapy programs that include a formal evaluation and individualized treatment plan to a placebo group.

Intraarticular corticosteroids could be considered to improve function and reduce pain in the shortterm for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

This strength of recommendation was downgraded to moderate for several reasons including heterogeneity in study design and corticosteroid dosing as well as a lack of reporting of adverse events (e.g., infection, rapidly progressive osteoarthritis of the hip).

Four high quality studies (Qvistgaard et al, Lambert et al, Atchia et al Paskins et al) compared intraarticular corticosteroid with placebo and showed improvement in pain and function scores in the short-term with intraarticular corticosteroids. Paskins (2022) found superior Western Ontario McMaster Arthritis Index (WOMAC) Total Scores, and 5-Level EuroQuol 5 Dimension self-report survey (EQ5D-5L) Scores at two and four month follow ups. Similarly, Atchia (2011) reported superior WOMAC function with corticosteroid injection at one, four, and eight week follow ups. Lambert (2007) reported superior WOMAC Stiffness, WOMAC Function Scores, and 36-Item Short Form Survey (SF-36) Scores (Social Functioning, Physical Functioning, and PCS) at one and two months as well. Pain outcomes (WOMAC Pain, SF-36 Bodily Pain, Visual Analogue Score / Numerical Rating Score for Pain) were superior for corticosteroid groups at short term follow ups up to eight weeks (Atchia 2011, Qvistgaard 2006, Lambert 2007, Paskins 2022).

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

While intraarticular corticosteroids can improve pain and function in the short-term for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip there are risks with their use. The most common risks are infection as well as rapidly progressive osteoarthritis after an intraarticular corticosteroid injection, which should be considered.

Outcome Importance

Intra-articular corticosteroids injections of the hip may not only improve pain and function of the hip, but also may improve patient activity levels, patient satisfaction, and quality of life.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

There is limited comparative data on the cost-effectiveness of intraarticular corticosteroid injections of the hip compared to other nonoperative treatments of osteoarthritis of the hip. Intraarticular corticosteroid injections of the hip are often performed with image guidance, such as ultrasound or fluoroscopy, which increase cost and resource utilization.

Acceptability

This recommendation should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. Intraarticular injections of the hip are commonly performed. It provides further evidence to support and guide this clinical practice.

Feasibility

Intraarticular corticosteroid injections of the hip are feasible for most, however they are often performed with image-guidance, such as fluoroscopy or ultrasound. Thus, patients who do not have access to clinicians with those imaging technologies may not have access to intraarticular corticosteroid injections in the hip.

Future Research

Future research is warranted to better understand the adverse events with intraarticular corticosteroid use, particularly infection and rapidly progressive osteoarthritis of the hip. Further studies are also needed with consistent dosing of corticosteroids as well as delivery methods.

Intraarticular hyaluronic acid should not be considered for treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip as it does not improve function or reduce pain better than placebo.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

Rationale

Five high quality studies (Nouri 2022, Brander 2019, Qvistgaard 2006, Richette 2009, Atchia 2011) compared intraarticular (IA) hyaluronic acid (HA) with placebo. All five showed no improvement in pain or function with IA hyaluronic acid compared to placebo. Specifically, Nouri (2022), Qvistgaard (2006), and Richette (2009) reported no difference in Western Ontario McMaster Arthritis Index (WOMAC) Total scores at follow up times leading up to and including six months. Pain outcomes reported via WOMAC Pain Scale, Visual Analogue Scale for Pain, and Lequesne Pain Scale showed no difference between HA and placebo at similar follow-up. Brander (2019) reported no significant differences between a variety of adverse event rates between HA and placebo.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

There are no harms, known or anticipated, associated with implementing this recommendation.

Outcome Importance

Intra-articular injections of the hip may not only improve pain and function of the hip, but also may improve patient activity levels, patient satisfaction, and quality of life.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

There is limited comparative data on the cost-effectiveness of intraarticular hyaluronic acid injections of the hip with other nonoperative treatments of osteoarthritis of the hip. Intraarticular injections of the hip are often performed with image guidance, such as ultrasound or fluoroscopy, which increase cost and resource utilization.

Acceptability

This recommendation should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. Intraarticular injections of the hip are commonly performed. It provides further evidence to support and guide this clinical practice.

Feasibility

These recommendations do not interfere with other interventions or clinical practice therefore it is deemed very feasible in patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Future Research

Given the increased cost associated with their use, future cost-effectiveness research is warranted on the use of intraarticular hyaluronic acid injections. There is also a paucity of data on adverse events with their use. Future research would also be beneficial looking at different subgroups of patients based on patient related factors or disease related factors that may benefit from one nonoperative treatment over another.

When not contraindicated, oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs) should be used to reduce pain and improve function in the treatment of symptomatic hip osteoarthritis.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Strong

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Also requires no reasons to downgrade from the EtD framework.

Rationale

Five studies (three moderate quality and two high quality) compared oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs) with placebo for treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip and showed improvement in pain and function scores with NSAIDs (Baerwald 2010, Kivitz 2001, Makarowski 2002, Schnitzer 2011, Svensson 2006). Compared to placebo, all five studies reported on pain and uniformly reported improvement in pain with the use of oral NSAIDs. The Western Ontario McMaster Arthritis Index (WOMAC) score was reported in all studies, all of which reported improvement in WOMAC function with NSAIDs compared to placebo. Three articles compared efficacy of a NSAIDs against each other: Schnitzer (2011) found that lumiracoxib showed similar efficacy to celecoxib; Kivitz (2001) found that celecoxib 200mg/day and 400mg/day showed similar efficacy to naproxen; Makarowski (2002) reported similar efficacy between valdecoxib 10mg and naproxen.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Although oral NSAIDs are widely utilized to treat osteoarthritis of the hip, there are contraindications to their use. Contraindications that should be considered include, but are not limited to, patients with chronic kidney disease or patients with significant cardiac conditions that may be at an elevated risk of myocardial infarction.

Outcome Importance

The use of non-opioid medications such as NSAIDs for nonoperative treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip is extremely important to minimize the use of opioids.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

NSAIDs are widely available and an extremely cost-effective treatment for symptomatic osteoarthritis. However, there is limited comparative data on the cost-effectiveness of oral NSAIDs compared to other nonoperative treatments of osteoarthritis of the hip.

Acceptability

This recommendation should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. Oral NSAIDs are commonly used to treat symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip. It provides further evidence to support and guide this clinical practice.

Feasibility

Oral NSAIDs are widely available. Thus, this recommendation should be easily implemented with no apparent barriers to adoption.

Future Research

Future research is warranted to better understand the adverse events with oral NSAID use, particularly in patients at higher risk. Further studies are also needed to compare the different types of oral NSAIDs as well as dosing and duration of treatment. Future studies are needed to establish efficacy within certain subgroups and populations.

Low quality evidence suggests in older adult patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic osteoarthritis, cemented femoral stems could be considered as they are associated with a lower risk of periprosthetic fracture.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was upgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

This recommendation was upgraded from limited to moderate due to the risks of periprosthetic fracture, risks to acceptability as the vast majority of femoral stems implanted are cementless, as well as the importance of training surgeons on cement technique. Eleven low quality studies compared outcomes of cemented femoral stems versus cementless femoral stems in total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic osteoarthritis (Bloemheuvel 2022, Cnudde 2017, Dybvik 2020, Ekman 2019, Ennin 2021, Gandhi 2010, Havelin 1994, Jamsen 2014, Kelly 2022, Makela 2014, Pedersen 2021).

Bloemheuvel (2022), suggested that cemented femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on revision rates after 1, 3, and 5 years compared to cementless. Jamsen (2014) found that cementless femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on the risk of revision after 1 year compared to cemented. Makela (2014) indicated that cementless femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on revisions after 6 months and 15 years, deep infection at 6 months, and dislocation at 6 months for patients between the ages 65-74 compared to cemented. However, it also suggested that cemented femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on aseptic loosening and periprosthetic fracture at 6 months for patients between the ages of 65-74 compared to cementless. For patients over 75, this low-quality article indicated that cementless femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on aseptic loosening at 6 months and periprosthetic fracture at 6 months for the same age group compared to cementless. Kelly (2022) found cementless femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on aseptic loosening at 10 years compared to hybrid. However, it also suggested that cemented femoral fixet on septic revision and loosening at 10 years compared to cementless femoral fixation had significantly positive effects on periprosthetic fracture at 10 years compared to cementless.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Cemented femoral stems in total hip arthroplasty are associated with lower risk of periprosthetic fracture particularly in older patients. However, there is a risk of bone cement implantation syndrome with the use of cement during total hip arthroplasty particularly in patients with poor renal, cardiac, or pulmonary function (Rassir 2021). The decision to use cemented or cementless femoral fixation should be individualized to each patient as it may be influenced by individual patient circumstances.

Outcome Importance

As the number of older patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty increases annually, the risk of periprosthetic fractures has continued to rise. Mortality rates after periprosthetic fractures are as high as 18% so mitigating this

risk is important (Shields 2014). This recommendation was upgraded from limited to moderate to emphasize the importance of mitigating the risk of periprosthetic fractures in total hip arthroplasty.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

While cementless fixation is widely utilized in total hip arthroplasty, bone cement is widely available as it is the most common fixation method for total knee arthroplasty. The cost-effectiveness of cemented versus cementless femoral fixation is complex and must take into account multiple factors including direct costs, including the costs of the prostheses and cement, as well as indirect costs, operating room and anesthesia time, and the cost of adverse events associated with their use.

Acceptability

In the United States, 95.2% of femoral stems implanted are cementless (AJRR 2022 Annual Report). The high utilization rates of cementless femoral fixation are multifactorial including longevity due to biologic ingrowth fixation, reduced operative time, lower risk of embolic debris, as well as lack of training on cement technique. Given this, there is a risk that this recommendation is not widely accepted. As a result, this recommendation was upgraded to a moderate strength recommendation due to this risk.

Feasibility

While cemented femoral fixation is less utilized in the United States, it is widely utilized internationally with utilization of cemented stems reported up to 98% in some countries (Bunyoz 2020). Clinically, cemented fixation is sustainable and an effective method of femoral fixation. However, a major barrier to implementation of this recommendation is lack of surgical training on cement technique. As a result, this recommendation was upgraded to a moderate strength recommendation to emphasize the importance of surgical training incorporating cemented femoral fixation.

Future Research

The decision to utilize a cemented versus cementless femoral stem should be individualized to each patient and should take into account bone quality. There is not a widely available and adopted preoperative assessment for bone quality. Resultantly, age is often utilized as a surrogate. Future research is warranted to identify additional patient related factors beyond age that inform the decision to use cemented or cementless fixation and avoid complications, such as periprosthetic fractures. While cementless and cemented fixation are broad terms to describe fixations strategies in total hip arthroplasty, there are a variety of implant related differences (e.g., geometry, coatings) between implants in each group that should be considered. Future comparative research is warranted to investigate the unique differences in implants and technologies in each group. Long-term studies and registry data are important to assess the reliability and durability of current and future cemented and cementless femoral stems. Comparative cost-effectiveness data is also important and should be an area of future research.

High quality evidence supports that there are specific risks and benefits to each surgical approach and that there is not a preferred surgical approach for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip undergoing total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: High

Strength of Recommendation: Moderate ***** (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "High" quality studies with consistent findings for recommending for or against the intervention. Recommendation was downgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

This strength of recommendation was downgraded from strong to moderate for several reasons including the heterogeneity in the data, indirectness of comparative studies, and the potential for future research to alter the recommendation.

Several high-quality and three moderate-quality studies are included in this review. Each of the studies compares one specific approach against another. None of the studies compare multiple approaches. The definition of each approach was also not well defined in a majority of studies. Taunton (2014) indicated that direct anterior approach had significantly positive effects on Western Ontario McMaster Arthritis Index (WOMAC) Total scores and days discontinued all walking aids compared to the mini-posterior approach, but other high-quality papers by Barrett (2019), Parvizi (2016), and Xie (2017) suggests excellent results utilizing other approaches. There is no one definitive study comparing prospectively all approaches regarding activity, complications, and patient satisfaction.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Each surgical approach in total hip arthroplasty is associated with specific risks and benefits. Certain risks or benefits may be more associated with one approach over another. For example, a posterior approach is associated with an increased risk of dislocation and an anterior approach associated with an increased risk of wound complications. The decision to use a specific approach should be based on a surgeon's training and experience with the approach and should be individualized to each patient. The decision to proceed with a particular approach should be made by each individual patient and surgeon after an informed decision-making process where the risks and benefits of each approach for that individual patient are discussed.

Outcome Importance

As the incidence and prevalence of osteoarthritis of the hip continues to rise, the number of total hip arthroplasty procedures performed is increasing as well.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

No studies specifically addressed associated costs and resource utilization in a cost comparative approach. The approach in total hip arthroplasty does not incur any direct costs. Some approaches may be performed with special instrumentation or equipment that may be associated with an increase in cost. However, there is limited comparative data on the cost-effectiveness of the different approaches in total hip arthroplasty.

Acceptability

This recommendation should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. A variety of approaches are utilized in total hip arthroplasty.

Feasibility

All approaches to the hip are feasible for most surgeons. Thus, this recommendation should be easily implemented with no apparent barriers to adoption.

Future Research

Future studies level I prospective randomized controlled trials are needed to compare the different approaches in total hip arthroplasty. Future studies are also needed to establish differences in adverse events or clinical outcomes within certain subgroups and populations.
OPTIONS

Low quality evidence, no evidence, or conflicting supporting evidence have resulted in the following statements for patient interventions to be listed as options for the specified condition. Future research may eventually cause these statements to be upgraded to strong or moderate recommendations for treatment.

BMI: ADVERSE EVENTS

Limited evidence suggests that elevated BMI may increase the risk of adverse events in patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty for symptomatic hip osteoarthritis.

Quality of Evidence: Low Strength of Option: Limited

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

Numerous studies have evaluated the association between patient weight ranges and adverse events following total hip arthroplasty (THA). The available data are of limited quality with considerable heterogeneity. However, it is not feasible to perform a randomized controlled trial since body mass index (BMI) is not easily modifiable. Therefore, it is unknown if, in the existing literature, patients with elevated BMI were otherwise medically optimized and if all potentially confounding factors were adequately controlled.

Most studies find either no significant difference or increased complications after THA when comparing overweight or obese subjects to normal weight individuals. With higher obesity classes, the current evidence seems to more clearly establishes an association with increased risk of postoperative complications. These medical adverse events include mortality, cardiac complications, acute renal failure, deep venous thrombosis, and allogeneic blood transfusion. Patients with elevated BMI are also at increased risk of surgical adverse events such as periprosthetic fracture, dislocation, periprosthetic joint infection/superficial infection/wound dehiscence, femoral component subsidence/loosening/revision, increased polyethylene wear, reoperation/revision for any reason, and increased intraoperative blood loss (Lung 2023, Bowditch 1999, Tohidi 2019, Mouchti 2018, Davis 2011, Bourget-Murray 2021, Peters 2020, Sayed-Noor 2019, Burn 2019). It is important to note that while the complication rates of postoperative adverse events are significantly higher in patients with elevated BMI, absolute rates of adverse events remain relatively low. The decision to proceed with THA in properly optimized patients with elevated BMI should remain at the discretion of the operating surgeon.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

If elevated BMI is assumed to be a modifiable risk factor, there is value in identifying any association between BMI and adverse events after total hip arthroplasty (THA). While current evidence demonstrates an increased risk of postoperative adverse events in patients with elevated BMI, the quality of evidence is low. THA is a highly successful and cost-effective treatment that improves quality of life for patients with symptomatic hip arthritis. It is important that access to THA be preserved for medically optimized patients with elevated BMI. However, extremes of BMI are likely associated with a prohibitively high risk of postoperative adverse events.

Outcome Importance

Adverse events following THA can be catastrophic for both the patient and costly to the health care system.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

THA has been demonstrated to be cost effective. Understanding the complication profile of patients with different BMIs may help surgeons make decisions on cost-effectiveness of THA in different patient populations.

Acceptability

It is accepted that BMI may increase the risk of adverse events following total joint arthroplasty.

Feasibility

It is feasible to determine pre-operative BMI and use this information to help risk stratify patients.

Future Research

Future prospective research should focus on how to properly select and optimize patients with elevated BMI to minimize the risk of postoperative adverse events. In addition, future research is needed to definitively determine if losing weight and lowering BMI reduces the risk of complications after THA. Further research into the varying ways weight loss strategies t is necessary to determine if certain strategies are more effective at reducing risks after THA than others.

BMI: CLINICAL OUTCOMES

Limited evidence supports that patients with elevated BMI and symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip may achieve lower absolute patient reported outcome scores but a similar degree of improvement in patient satisfaction, pain, function, and quality of life after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited ***

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

The majority of evidence demonstrates that patients of all body mass index (BMI) categories clinically improve following total joint arthroplasty. Patients with elevated BMI may recover more slowly, have less post operative physical activity (Paxton 2016), lower gait speed, less effective hip biomechanics, and achieve lower overall levels of satisfaction and function with total hip arthroplasty (THA) (McCalden 2011, Mukka 2020, Shadyab 2018, Davis 2011, Skutek 2016, Jackson 2009). However, despite lower total post operative outcome scores, the magnitude of improvement in these scores in patients with elevated BMI is equivalent to those of patients with normal BMI (Cleveland Clinic 2020, Liljensoe 2019, McLawhorn 2017). It should be noted that in many studies, elevated BMI was considered greater than 30. While studies of patients with higher BMIs (e.g., > 40) showed similar results, the available data is more limited in this population.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

There are no harms associated with the implementation of this option.

Outcome Importance

It is important to understand that total hip arthroplasty patients show dramatic increases in their quality of life at all BMI levels.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

Total hip arthroplasty has been shown to be cost- effective. Understanding that patients of all BMI levels have improved quality of life and patient- reported outcomes may expand access to this cost- effective surgical intervention.

Acceptability

It is accepted that BMI may influence the outcome of total hip arthroplasty.

Feasibility

It is feasible to determine BMI and educate patients preoperatively on its impact on post operative outcomes.

Future Research

Future research is warranted to determine the levels of improvement in patient reported outcomes after total hip arthroplasty based on BMI classes. Further research is also warranted to determine if certain patient reported outcomes improve more over others in patients with an elevated BMI. It is also necessary to determine if patient reported outcomes improve if BMI is reduced with preoperative weight loss before proceeding with THA.

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that oral opioids not be utilized for nonoperative treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: Consensus Strength of Option: Consensus

Description: Evidence there is no supporting evidence, or limited level evidence was downgraded due to major concerns addressed in the EtD framework. In the absence of reliable evidence, the guideline work group is making a recommendation based on their clinical opinion.

Rationale

The systematic literature review yielded no studies that met inclusion criteria for this option. Outside the inclusion criteria, there is high quality evidence that oral opioids, including tramadol, result in a significant increase of adverse events and are not effective at improving pain or function for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee. This led to a strong recommendation against the use of oral opioids for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee in the AAOS Osteoarthritis of the Knee 3 Guideline. In addition to the risks associated with their use, preoperative opioid use is associated with increased risks of adverse events, complications, and revision in total hip arthroplasty. Patients who wean their opioid use before total hip arthroplasty have significant improvements in clinical outcomes after surgery compared to patients who continue their opioid use up until surgery.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Opioids have limited clinical benefit and are associated with significant adverse events. In addition, they increase the risk of complications after total hip arthroplasty.

Outcome Importance

The most important consideration will be removal of oral opioids from the medications prescribed in the treatment of osteoarthritis of the hip. This becomes particularly significant due to the rise of the opioid epidemic in the United States.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

The optimal nonoperative treatment of osteoarthritis of the hip should reduce pain and improve function. It is the opinion of the workgroup that opioids do not lead to improvements in pain and function and increase the risk of adverse events. Thus, there are significant clinical risks and cost-associated risks with their use.

Acceptability

For most patients, this option should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. However, for patients who fail other nonoperative treatments, such as NSAIDs, acetaminophen or injections, there may be some resistance to this option. Importantly, these patients should be counseled on the significant risks associated with opioid use as well as their lack of efficacy.

Feasibility

This option should be easily implemented with no apparent barriers to adoption.

Future Research

Future research is needed investigating alternative non-opioid nonoperative treatments of osteoarthritis of the hip. For patients who present with chronic opioid use, future research is warranted to investigate ways to assist patients in weaning off opioids prior to total hip arthroplasty.

Limited evidence suggests that patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip and poorly controlled diabetes may be at a higher risk for adverse events after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited ******

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

There are very few articles in literature comparing diabetic and non-diabetic patients and their outcomes after total hip arthroplasty. Approximately 30 articles were identified on initial literature search; three low quality articles were included (Cancienne 2017, McVey 2020, Na 2020).

McVey (2020) retrospectively compared outcomes after THA between diabetic patients and a control group and found no difference in outcomes between groups. The diabetic group had an average A1c of 6.0% while only 27% patients had A1c more than 7.5%. While Cancienne (2017) found that patients with controlled diabetes had significantly fewer deep infections, McVey (2020) did not report significantly different rates of any adverse events, including deep infection. This cohort of patients had relatively well controlled diabetes which may be the reason for a nonsignificant increase in complication. Na (2020) divided the patients into four groups: uncontrolled diabetes, controlled diabetes with complications, controlled diabetes without complications, and no diabetes. The results show that patients without diabetes or with controlled diabetes without complications had more favorable outcomes than patients with uncontrolled diabetes or controlled diabetes with complications. These outcomes include overall complications, acute myocardial infarction, pulmonary embolism, pneumonia, sepsis/septicemia/shock, surgical site bleeding, and joint/wound infection.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

There is no consensus on acceptable HbA1c level considered safe for surgery. Patients with uncontrolled diabetes are at an increased risk of adverse events after THA, but there is no consensus on the best determinant of diabetes control and a cutoff by which the risks of surgery outweigh the benefits. The decision to proceed with surgery should be made by each individual patient and surgeon after an informed decision-making process where the risks and benefits of the procedure for that individual patient are discussed.

Outcome Importance

Infection and renal injury could lead to significant morbidity and possibly mortality in patients.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

This option would not result in a change in resource utilization.

Acceptability

This option should be widely accepted as it does not mandate a change in clinical practice.

Feasibility

There is no barrier to acceptance of the option.

Future Research

Future research is needed to determine the optimal measure of diabetes control. In addition, more clarity in terms of risks at different severities of diabetes is needed. Future studies should stratify patients based on their A1c level or perioperative blood sugar level with sufficient power to see if there is any unsafe diabetes control for hip arthroplasty.

Limited evidence suggests that social determinants of health (e.g., education, income level, food desert, insurance type) may negatively impact length of stay, total cost of care, and mortality after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low Strength of Option: Limited

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

Twenty-one low quality articles were included and analyzed for this option.

Ten of these articles (Delanois 2022, Edwards 2021, Edwards 2022 (a), Edwards 2022 (b), Hoelen 2023, Peltola 2014, Rubenstein 2020, Tram 2022, Weiner 2020, and Weiss 2019) observed how factors contributing to economic well-being affect outcomes in osteoarthritis of the hip (OAH) patients who underwent total hip arthroplasty (THA). The results show that higher income, greater amounts of financial liquid assets, and elevated socioeconomic status contribute to significantly lower rates of mortality, readmission, length of stay, revision surgery, infection, fracture, and dislocation. These factors also significantly improve VAS Pain, WOMAC, and Oxford Hip Scores.

Eleven articles (Cnudde 2017, Edwards 2021, Edwards 2022 (a), Edwards 2022 (b), Goodman 2018, Judge 2011, Leichtenberg 2016, MacKay 2017, Rubenstein 2020, Weiner 2020, and Weiss 2019) investigated the impact of education levels on outcomes in OAH patients who underwent THA. Mortality and readmission rates were significantly reduced in patients with higher education levels. Those with a college-level education demonstrated improved WOMAC Total scores.

Five articles (Cnudde 2017, Tram 2022, Weiner 2020, Weiss 2019, and Yang 2022) examined hospital-related factors, including the hospital's type, bed size, and volume, and their correlation with outcomes for OAH patients who underwent THA. Weiner (2020) concluded that hospitals with low patient volumes exhibit significantly reduced length of stay and discharge times. Tram (2022) and Yang (2022) observed that hospitals with smaller bed sizes experienced significant reductions in readmission rates and hospital-acquired pressure ulcers.

Cnudde (2017), Tram (2022), and Weiss (2019), however, reported mixed findings. They found that county and private hospitals demonstrate significantly improved survival rates compared to university hospitals, government hospitals exhibit significantly lower readmission rates than for-profit hospitals, and private and university hospitals experience significantly lower mortality rates than county hospitals.

Seven articles (Benes 2023, Goodman 2018, Koressel 2022, Sirignano 2023, Tram 2023, Weiner 2020, and Yang 2022) investigated the effects of insurance type on patient outcomes. Koressel (2022) showed that patients on Medicaid had significantly lower length of hospital stay and significantly higher rates of home discharge when compared to patients with dual eligibility. Goodman (2018), Koressel (2022), and Tram (2022) showed that patients on Medicare have significantly better outcomes in WOMAC Pain and Function, significantly increased

rates of home discharge, and significantly reduced rates of return to emergency department/readmission when compared to patients with dual eligibility, patients on Medicaid, and patients with private insurance. Weiner (2020) showed that patients with other forms of insurance had a significantly lower hospital length of stay and significantly higher rates of non-home discharge when compared to Medicaid/uninsured patients. Benes (2023) showed significantly lower rates of revision in private insurance patients when compared with public insurance patients.

Sirigano (2023) and Yang (2022) conversely reported that outcomes in dislocation, revision, and hospital acquired pressure ulcers were significantly lower in patients with private insurance, and those without Medicare, when compared to patients with Medicare.

Seven articles (Benes 2023, Goodman 2018, Koressel 2022, Sirignano 2023, Tram 2023, Weiner 2020, and Yang 2022) delved into the impact of insurance type on patient outcomes. Koressel (2022) revealed that patients on Medicaid experienced significantly shorter hospital stays and higher rates of home discharge compared to patients with dual eligibility. Goodman (2018), Koressel (2022), and Tram (2022) demonstrated that patients on Medicare exhibited significantly improved WOMAC Pain and Function scores, higher rates of home discharge, and reduced rates of emergency department visits and readmissions in comparison to patients with dual eligibility, patients insured with Medicaid, and those with private insurance. Weiner (2020) showed that patients with other forms of insurance had significantly shorter hospital stays and increased rates of non-home discharge when compared with Medicaid/uninsured patients. Benes (2023) observed significantly lower revision rates in patients with private insurance.

However, Sirignano (2023) and Yang (2022) showed that patients with private insurance and those without Medicare experienced significantly fewer cases of dislocation, revision, and hospital-acquired pressure ulcers when compared to patients with Medicare.

Seven articles (Broggi 2022, Delanois 2022, Edwards 2021, Edwards 2022 (a), Edwards 2022 (b), Tram 2022, and Weiss 2019) investigated how living conditions influence the outcomes of patients with OAH who underwent THA. Edwards (2021) and Edwards (2022b) observed that patients who were cohabiting exhibited significantly reduced rates of revision, infection, pneumonia, fracture, dislocation, and mortality in comparison to those who were not cohabiting. Delanois (2022) demonstrated that costs of care were significantly lower in regions without food deserts than in those with food deserts. Broggi (2022) indicated that rates of dislocation, periprosthetic joint infection, readmission, and extended length of stay were significantly lower among urban patients when compared to rural patients.

Conversely, Tram (2022) showed significantly lower rates of readmission among rural patients compared to nonrural patients. Weiss (2019) also indicated significantly lower rates of mortality and readmission in patients who were not cohabiting, in comparison to those who were cohabiting.

Three articles (Brembo 2017, Delanois 2022, and Rubenstein 2020) observed how social support influences the outcomes of patients with OAH who underwent THA. Brembo (2017) found that patients who had perceived social support, reliable alliances, reassurances of worth, and self-efficacy had significantly higher WOMAC Total scores when compared to patients without those factors.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Reducing the negative impact of social determinants of health on outcomes of total hip arthroplasty is an important societal goal without significant risk of harm.

Outcome Importance

Low quality studies suggest that social determinants of health impact outcomes after total hip arthroplasty. Given the frequency of negative social determinants of health and the impact on equity, this is an area of high importance.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

Social determinants of health may significantly impact cost of care and resource utilization through variation in length of stay, and complication rates and increased post-discharge resource needs.

Acceptability

This option should be widely accepted as it does not lead to a major change in practice.

Feasibility

While there are no specific consistent recommendations to limit the negative impact of social determinants of health in the literature reviewed, it will likely require significant societal and governmental commitment including improved pre-operative health status, structural changes in post-discharge service availability and increased financial resources to improve outcomes.

Future Research

Higher quality research is necessary focusing on the impact of specific societal determinants of health on total hip arthroplasty outcomes. In addition, research on identified, innovative measures to reduce the negative impact of social determinants of health would be valuable.

PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT: ACETAMINOPHEN

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that when not contraindicated, oral acetaminophen may be considered to improve pain and function in the treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip.

Quality of Evidence: Consensus Strength of Option: Consensus

Description: Evidence there is no supporting evidence, or limited level evidence was downgraded due to major concerns addressed in the EtD framework. In the absence of reliable evidence, the guideline work group is making a recommendation based on their clinical opinion.

Rationale

The systematic literature review yielded no studies that met inclusion criteria for this option. Outside the inclusion criteria, there is high quality evidence that oral acetaminophen improves pain and function for patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. This led to a strong recommendation supporting the use of oral acetaminophen for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee in the AAOS Osteoarthritis of the Knee 3 Guideline.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Although oral acetaminophen is widely utilized to treat osteoarthritis of the hip, there are contraindications to its use. Contraindications that should be considered include, but are not limited to, patients with preexisting liver disease.

Outcome Importance

The use of non-opioid medications such as acetaminophen for nonoperative treatment of symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip is extremely important to minimize the use of opioids.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

Acetaminophen is widely available and an extremely cost-effective treatment for symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip. However, there is limited comparative data on the cost-effectiveness of oral acetaminophen compared to other nonoperative treatments of osteoarthritis of the hip.

Acceptability

This option should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. Oral acetaminophen is commonly used to treat symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip. This option further supports this clinical practice.

Feasibility

Oral acetaminophen is widely available. Thus, this option should be easily implemented with no apparent barriers to adoption.

Future Research

Future research is warranted to better understand the adverse events with oral acetaminophen use, particularly in patients at higher risk. Further studies are also needed to compare the different dosages and durations of treatment. Future studies are needed to establish efficacy within certain subgroups and populations.

HIP-SPINE RELATIONSHIP

In the absence of sufficient evidence, it is the opinion of the workgroup that patients with osteoarthritis of the hip and stiff spine syndrome may be at increased risk of dislocation after total hip arthroplasty compared to patients without stiff spine syndrome.

Quality of Evidence: Low Strength of Option: Consensus (Downgraded)

Evidence from two or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Option was downgraded based on EtD framework.

Rationale

The strength of this option was downgraded to consensus for several reasons including the heterogeneity of the data reported and the timepoints they were reported as well as the fact that future research will have a strong influence on this option in the future. Five low quality articles (Del Sole 2017, Barry 2017, Huang 2019, Salib 2019, Mohamed 2022) that investigated the relationship between osteoarthritis of the hip and stiff spine syndrome met inclusion criteria. While all five articles reported no significant association with dislocation, one article (Barry 2017) showed stiff spine syndrome was associated with more complications and higher reoperation rates.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Dislocation remains one of the leading complications after total hip arthroplasty. The hip spine relationship has the potential to increase the risk of this complication, but there is a lack of concrete data. The spine has potential of negatively affecting total hip arthroplasty outcome, but it's not proven by robust data. Dislocation could be a devastating complication. However, patients with stiff spines should not be denied total hip arthroplasty. There should be open discussion between surgeon and patient about potential complications.

Outcome Importance

Dislocations after total hip arthroplasty are a devastating complication. Factors that may increase this risk, such as a stiff spine, should be considered in total hip arthroplasty. Specific changes in implant choices or implant position may be considered in these patients.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

To mitigate the risk of dislocations, the use of dual mobility constructs and large femoral heads has increased, both of which increase the costs of surgery. In addition, there has been an increased adoption of technology in total hip arthroplasty to mitigate the risk of dislocation particular in high-risk patients such as those with stiff spines, which increases both the resource utilization and costs in total hip arthroplasty.

Acceptability

The effect of stiff spine on total hip arthroplasty is relatively well appreciated by arthroplasty surgeons. There should not be any impediments in accepting the option.

Feasibility

This option is easy to implement the practice. There is no barrier in the implementation of such a option. Larger heads and dual mobility articulations are readily available.

Future Research

There needs to be a prospective randomized trial to explore the effect of stiff spine on total hip arthroplasty. Future studies should also qualify the critical stiffness of the lumbar spine which would lead to adverse outcome of total hip arthroplasty. It will be important to know whether one- or two-level spinal fusion has any significant effect on hip dislocation. Furthermore, it is important to differentiate the effect of posterior pelvic tilt versus anterior pelvic tilt on total hip arthroplasty. Limited evidence suggests that neuraxial anesthesia may be used to reduce adverse events in patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip undergoing total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low Strength of Option: Limited

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

One high moderate quality (Liang 2017) and four low-quality (Basques 2015, Bourget 2022, Hunt 2013, Matharu 2020) were included. The moderate quality prospective randomized study by Liang 2017 showed shorter operative time, shorter duration of anesthesia, lower Visual Analogue Score for pain and high Minimum Metal State Examination Score (MME) with reginal anesthesia as compared to general anesthesia. Patients were followed for up to five days after surgery. There was no statistically significant difference in postoperative adverse effects, including pulmonary embolism, pneumonia, hypertension, renal failure, cardiac infarction, blood transfusion and mechanical ventilation. However, cardiac infarction, blood transfusion and mechanical ventilation numbers were twice in the general anesthesia group.

Two low-quality studies (Basques 2015, Matharu 2020) showed that there are lower blood transfusion rates with regional anesthesia. Another two low quality studies (Matharu 2020, Bourget 2022) reported shorter length of stay with reginal anesthesia. Three low-quality studies (Matharu 2020, Hunt 2013, Basques 2015) have reported lower overall complications.

Matharu (2020) showed lower 90-days any complication, readmission, renal failure, surgical site infection (SSI), deep vein thrombosis / pulmonary embolism (DVT/PE), blood transfusion and length of stay with regional anesthesia. Hunt (2013) reported lower 3-month mortality with regional anesthesia. Bourget (2022) had lower blood transfusion with reginal anesthesia but shorter length of stay with general anesthesia. Basques (2015) article favored reginal anesthesia for overall any complication, cardiac arrest, blood transfusion and operative time.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

Both general and neuraxial anesthesia in total hip arthroplasty is associated with specific risks and benefits. While neuraxial anesthesia is associated with lower rates of adverse events in most patients, the choice of anesthesia should be individualized to each patient based on their medical comorbidities. The decision to proceed with a particular type of anesthesia should be made by each individual patient and anesthesiologist after an informed decision-making process where the risks and benefits of each anesthetic for that individual patient are discussed.

Outcome Importance

As the incidence and prevalence of osteoarthritis of the hip continues to rise, the number of total hip arthroplasty procedures performed is increasing as well.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

No studies specifically addressed associated costs and resource utilization in a cost comparative approach between neuraxial and general anesthesia. Neuraxial anesthesia is performed by most anesthesiologists, but specialized training is required.

Acceptability

This option should be readily implemented as it does not influence a major change in clinical practice. Both neuraxial and general anesthesia are widely utilized in total hip arthroplasty.

Feasibility

General anesthesia and neuraxial anesthesia is available to most patients. Thus, this option should be easily implemented with no apparent barriers to adoption.

Future Research

Future studies level I prospective randomized controlled trials are needed to compare general versus neuraxial anesthesia. Future studies should focus on the patient reported outcomes, functional outcomes, opioid consumption, recovery, as well as adverse events and costs. Future studies are also needed to establish differences in adverse events or clinical outcomes within certain subgroups and populations.

TOBACCO

Limited evidence suggests that patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the hip who use tobacco products may be at an increased risk for adverse events after total hip arthroplasty.

Quality of Evidence: Low

Strength of Option: Limited ******

Description: Evidence from one or more "Low" quality studies with consistent findings or evidence from a single "Moderate" quality study recommending for or against the intervention. Also, higher strength evidence can be downgraded to limited due to major concerns addressed in the EtD Framework.

Rationale

Eleven low quality studies (Burn 2019, Sali 2020, Sadr Azodi 2006, Peters 2020, Huddleston 2012, Gonzalez 2018, Sirignano 2023, Lung 2023, Peters 2021, Benes 2023, Goh 2022) were reviewed. There is a lack of clarity in the literature regarding different forms of tobacco use. Smoking is widely considered to be more significant than other forms of tobacco use. Most of the studies have investigated the effect of smoking on surgical outcome. One low quality study (Sadr Azodi 2006) showed increased systemic complications in both current and former smokers, while another prospective study (Gonzalez 2018) showed increased PJI in current and former smokers. There is a lack of clarity in literature regarding different forms of tobacco use. Lung (2023) reported that smoking is an independent risk factor for sustaining periprosthetic fracture.

Benefits/Harms of Implementation

There could be significant potential harm due to systemic complications and increased periprosthetic joint infections in smokers after total hip arthroplasty. It will result in significant financial burden and medical comorbidities. There is no benefit of smoking in patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty however, in absence of strong data, there is a concern about denial of care impatience with the smoking.

Outcome Importance

Future research will help us understand the impact of smoking on total hip arthroplasty. Postoperative complications could have a significant impact on the patient under community.

Cost Effectiveness/Resource Utilization

Any postoperative complication after total hip arthroplasty requires intense resource utilization and leads to increased cost of care.

Acceptability

There is no barrier to the acceptability of this option. Physicians should have open discussions with patients about potential downside.

Feasibility

This option does not contradict the current standard of care.

Future Research

Future well designed studies examining the effects of different forms of tobacco on the postoperative short- and long-term outcomes after total hip arthroplasty are needed. Stratification into the amount of tobacco use and those effects on outcomes are also needed. Future healthcare costs studies are also needed to determine the financial impact of tobacco use and complications after total hip arthroplasty.

Appendix I: References

Introduction References

- 1. Arslan, Ilgin G., et al. "Estimating incidence and prevalence of hip osteoarthritis using electronic health records: a population-based cohort study." Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 30.6 (2022): 843-851.
- 2. Fan, Zijuan, et al. "The prevalence of hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis." Arthritis Research & Therapy 25.1 (2023): 51.
- 3. Hochberg, Marc C. MD, et al. "Osteoarthritis." Https://Boneandjointburden.Org/Fourth-edition/liib10/Osteoarthritis, 2014,boneandjointburden.org/print/book/export/html/978.
- 4. James, Spencer L., et al. "Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017." The Lancet 392.10159 (2018): 1789-1858.
- 5. Kunkel, Samuel T., et al. "The cost-effectiveness of total hip arthroplasty in patients 80 years of age and older." The Journal of Arthroplasty 33.5 (2018): 1359-1367.
- 6. March, Lyn, et al. "Osteoarthritis: A Serious Disease: Submitted to the US Food and Drug Administration." (2016).
- 7. Stubbs, Brendon, et al. "Prevalence of depressive symptoms and anxiety in osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis." Age and ageing 45.2 (2016): 228-235.

Included Literature

- 1. Akram, F., Kunze, K. N., Kerzner, B., Gonzalez, A., Palacios, A., Levine, B. R. (2021). Mid-Term Survivorship, Performance, and Predictors of Outcome in Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty With a Porous Tantalum Femoral Prosthesis. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *36*(5), 1688-1694.
- 2. Akti, S., Zeybek, H., Bilekli, A. B., Celebi, N. O., Erdem, Y., Cankaya, D.. (2022). The effect of tranexamic acid on hidden blood loss in total hip arthroplasty. *Joint Diseases & Related Surgery*, *33*(1), 102-108.
- 3. Aranda Villalobos, P., Navarro-Espigares, J. L., Hernández-Torres, E., Martínez-Montes, J. L., Villalobos, M., Arroyo-Morales, M.. (2013). Body mass index as predictor of health-related quality-of-life changes after total hip arthroplasty: a cross-over study. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *28*(4), 666-70.
- 4. Atchia, I., Kane, D., Reed, M. R., Isaacs, J. D., Birrell, F. (2011). Efficacy of a single ultrasound-guided injection for the treatment of hip osteoarthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *70*(1), 110-6.
- Austin, M. S., Urbani, B. T., Fleischman, A. N., Fernando, N. D., Purtill, J. J., Hozack, W. J., Parvizi, J., Rothman, R. H.. (2017). Formal Physical Therapy After Total Hip Arthroplasty Is Not Required: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal* of Bone & Joint Surgery - American Volume, 99(8), 648-655.
- 6. Baerwald, C., Verdecchia, P., Duquesroix, B., Frayssinet, H., Ferreira, T.. (2010). Efficacy, safety, and effects on blood pressure of naproxcinod 750 mg twice daily compared with placebo and naproxen 500 mg twice daily in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip: a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, multicenter study. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, *62*(12), 3635-44.
- 7. Barrett, W. P., Turner, S. E., Murphy, J. A., Flener, J. L., Alton, T. B. (2019). Prospective, Randomized Study of Direct Anterior Approach vs Posterolateral Approach Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Concise 5-Year Follow-Up Evaluation. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *34*(6), 1139-1142.
- 8. Barry, J. J., Sing, D. C., Vail, T. P., Hansen, E. N.. (2017). Early Outcomes of Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty After Prior Lumbar Spinal Fusion. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(2), 470-474.
- 9. Basques, B. A., Toy, J. O., Bohl, D. D., Golinvaux, N. S., Grauer, J. N. (2015). General compared with spinal anesthesia for total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery American Volume*, *97*(6), 455-61.
- 10. Beck, H., Beyer, F., Gering, F., Gunther, K. P., Lutzner, C., Walther, A., Stiehler, M. (2019). Sports Therapy Interventions Following Total Hip Replacement. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, *116*(1), 1-8.
- Benes, Gregory A., Dasa, Vinod, Krause, Peter C., Jones, Deryk G., Leslie, Lauren J., Chapple, Andrew G. (2023). Disparities in Elective and Nonelective Total Hip Arthroplasty. *The Journal of arthroplasty*, *0*(0), . http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medp&NEWS=N&AN=36690188

- 12. Bennell, K. L., Egerton, T., Martin, J., Abbott, J. H., Metcalf, B., McManus, F., Sims, K., Pua, Y. H., Wrigley, T. V., Forbes, A., Smith, C., Harris, A., Buchbinder, R.. (2014). Effect of physical therapy on pain and function in patients with hip osteoarthritis: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, *311*(19), 1987-97.
- 13. Bennett, D., Gibson, D., O'Brien, S., Beverland, D. E.. (2010). Hip arthroplasty in morbidly obese patients intraoperative and short term outcomes. *Hip International*, *20*(1), 75-80.
- 14. Benoni, G., Fredin, H., Knebel, R., Nilsson, P.. (2001). Blood conservation with tranexamic acid in total hip arthroplasty: a randomized, double-blind study in 40 primary operations. *Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica*, 72(5), 442-8.
- 15. Beselga, C., Neto, F., Alburquerque-Sendin, F., Hall, T., Oliveira-Campelo, N.. (2016). Immediate effects of hip mobilization with movement in patients with hip osteoarthritis: A randomised controlled trial. *Manual Therapy*, *22*(0), 80-5.
- 16. Bloemheuvel, E. M., Van Steenbergen, L. N., Swierstra, B. A.. (2022). Comparable mortality but higher revision rate after uncemented compared with cemented total hip arthroplasties in patients 80 years and older: report of 43,053 cases of the Dutch Arthroplasty Register. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *93*(0), 151-157.
- 17. Bon, G., Kacem, E. B., Lepretre, P. M., Weissland, T., Mertl, P., Dehl, M., Gabrion, A. (2019). Does the direct anterior approach allow earlier recovery of walking following total hip arthroplasty? A randomized prospective trial using accelerometry. *Orthopaedics & traumatology, surgery & research*, *105*(3), 445-452.
- Bourget-Murray, J., Bansal, R., Soroceanu, A., Piroozfar, S., Railton, P., Johnston, K., Johnson, A., Powell, J.. (2021). Assessment of risk factors for early-onset deep surgical site infection following primary total hip arthroplasty for osteoarthritis. *Journal Of Bone And Joint Infection*, 6(9), 443-450.
- 19. Bourget-Murray, J., Halpenny, D., Mahdavi, S., Piroozfar, S. G., Sharma, R. (2022). Perioperative outcomes associated with general and spinal anesthesia after total joint arthroplasty for osteoarthritis: a large, Canadian, retrospective cohort study. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, *65*(4), E460-E467.
- 20. Bowditch, M. G., Villar, R. N. (1999). Do obese patients bleed more? A prospective study of blood loss at total hip replacement. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, *81*(3), 198-200.
- Brander, V., Skrepnik, N., Petrella, R. J., Jiang, G. L., Accomando, B., Vardanyan, A.. (2019). Evaluating the use of intra-articular injections as a treatment for painful hip osteoarthritis: a randomized, double-blind, multicenter, parallel-group study comparing a single 6-mL injection of hylan G-F 20 with saline. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage, 27*(1), 59-70.
- 22. Brembo, E. A., Kapstad, H., Van Dulmen, S., Eide, H.. (2017). Role of self-efficacy and social support in short-term recovery after total hip replacement: a prospective cohort study. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes*, *15*(1), 68.
- 23. Brismar, B. H., Hallert, O., Tedhamre, A., Lindgren, J. U.. (2018). Early gain in pain reduction and hip function, but more complications following the direct anterior minimally invasive approach for total hip arthroplasty: a randomized trial of 100 patients with 5 years of follow up. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *89*(5), 484-489.
- 24. Broggi, M. S., Oladeji, P. O., Whittingslow, D. C., Wilson, J. M., Bradbury, T. L., Erens, G. A., Guild, G. N. (2022). Rural Hospital Designation Is Associated With Increased Complications and Resource Utilization After Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Matched Case-Control Study. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *37*(3), 513-517.
- 25. Burn, E., Edwards, C. J., Murray, D. W., Silman, A., Cooper, C., Arden, N. K., Prieto-Alhambra, D., Pinedo-Villanueva, R. (2019). The impact of BMI and smoking on risk of revision following knee and hip replacement surgery: evidence from routinely collected data. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *27*(9), 1294-1300.
- 26. Cancienne, J. M., Werner, B. C., Browne, J. A. (2017). Is There a Threshold Value of Hemoglobin A1c That Predicts Risk of Infection Following Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty?. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(9), S236-s240.
- Cankaya, D., Inci, F., Karakus, D., Turker, H. B., Kahve, Y., Neyisci, C. (2023). Isokinetic performance and function are similar after total hip arthroplasty applied with a posterior or anterolateral approach: a randomised controlled trial. *Hip International*, 33(1), 67-72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/11207000211012989
- 28. Cheng, T. E., Wallis, J. A., Taylor, N. F., Holden, C. T., Marks, P., Smith, C. L., Armstrong, M. S., Singh, P. J.. (2017). A Prospective Randomized Clinical Trial in Total Hip Arthroplasty-Comparing Early Results Between the Direct Anterior Approach and the Posterior Approach. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(3), 883-890.
- 29. Chin, J., Blackett, J., Kieser, D. C., Frampton, C., Hooper, G. (2020). The Value of Routine Intravenous Tranexamic Acid in Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Preliminary Study. *Advances in Orthopedics*, *2020*(0), . http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2020/2943827
- Clavé, A., Gérard, R., Lacroix, J., Baynat, C., Danguy des Déserts, M., Gatineau, F., Mottier, D.. (2019). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial on the efficacy of tranexamic acid combined with rivaroxaban thromboprophylaxis in reducing blood loss after primary cementless total hip arthroplasty. *Bone and Joint Journal*, 101-B(2), 207-212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.101B2.BJJ-2018-0898.R1

- Cleveland Clinic, O. M. E. Arthroplasty Group, Arnold, N., Anis, H., Barsoum, W. K., Bloomfield, M. R., Brooks, P. J., Higuera, C. A., Kamath, A. F., Klika, A., Krebs, V. E., Mesko, N. W., Molloy, R. M., Mont, M. A., Murray, T. G., Patel, P. D., Strnad, G., Stearns, K. L., Warren, J., Zajichek, A., Piuzzi, N. S.. (2020). Preoperative cut-off values for body mass index deny patients clinically significant improvements in patient-reported outcomes after total hip arthroplasty. *Bone & Joint Journal*, *102-B*(6), 683-692.
- 32. Cnudde, P., Nemes, S., Mohaddes, M., Timperley, J., Garellick, G., Burström, K., Rolfson, O.. (2017). Is preoperative patient-reported health status associated withmortality after total hip replacement?. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(8), . http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14080899
- 33. Coulter, C., Perriman, D. M., Neeman, T. M., Smith, P. N., Scarvell, J. M.. (2017). Supervised or Unsupervised Rehabilitation After Total Hip Replacement Provides Similar Improvements for Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, *98*(11), 2253-2264.
- 34. Dallari, D., Stagni, C., Rani, N., Sabbioni, G., Pelotti, P., Torricelli, P., Tschon, M., Giavaresi, G. (2016). Ultrasound-Guided Injection of Platelet-Rich Plasma and Hyaluronic Acid, Separately and in Combination, for Hip Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Controlled Study. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44(3), 664-71.
- 35. Dalmas, I., Agius, T. P., Sciriha, A.. (2023). Core muscle strengthening exercises in the management of hip osteoarthritis: outcomes of a 12-week programme. *European Journal of Physiotherapy*, *0*(0), . https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-02543279/full
- 36. Dalmas, Ilona, Sciriha, Anabel, Camilleri, Liberato, Agius, Tonio. (2023). Effects of core strengthening on balance in patients with hip osteoarthritis: a randomised controlled trial. *International journal of rehabilitation research*. *Internationale Zeitschrift fur Rehabilitationsforschung*. *Revue internationale de recherches de readaptation*, *0*(0), . http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medp&NEWS=N&AN=37067997
- Davidovitch, R., Riesgo, A., Bolz, N., Murphy, H., Anoushiravani, A., Snir, N.. (2020). The Effect of Obesity on Fluoroscopy-Assisted Direct Anterior Approach Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Bulletin of the Hospital for Joint Disease* (2013), 78(3), 187-194.
- Davis, A. M., Wood, A. M., Keenan, A. C., Brenkel, I. J., Ballantyne, J. A. (2011). Does body mass index affect clinical outcome post-operatively and at five years after primary unilateral total hip replacement performed for osteoarthritis? A multivariate analysis of prospective data. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume*, 93(9), 1178-82.
- 39. Delanois, R. E., Sax, O. C., Wilkie, W. A., Douglas, S. J., Mohamed, N. S., Mont, M. A. (2022). Social Determinants of Health in Total Hip Arthroplasty: Are They Associated With Costs, Lengths of Stay, and Patient Reported Outcomes?. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *37*(7), S422-S427.
- 40. DelSole, E. M., Vigdorchik, J. M., Schwarzkopf, R., Errico, T. J., Buckland, A. J.. (2017). Total Hip Arthroplasty in the Spinal Deformity Population: Does Degree of Sagittal Deformity Affect Rates of Safe Zone Placement, Instability, or Revision?. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(6), 1910-1917.
- 41. Dowsey, M. M., Spelman, T., Choong, P. F. M. (2022). A Nomogram for Predicting Non-Response to Surgery One Year after Elective Total Hip Replacement. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *11*(6), 16.
- 42. Dybvik, E., Furnes, O., Havelin, L. I., Fossa, S. D., Trovik, C., Lie, S. A. (2020). A prospective study on cancer risk after total hip replacements for 41,402 patients linked to the Cancer registry of Norway. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *21*(1), 599.
- Edwards, N. M., Kristiansen, E. B., Varnum, C., Overgaard, S., Nelissen, R. G. H. H., Pedersen, A. B. (2022). The association between socioeconomic status and the 90-day risk of cardiovascular events after total hip arthroplasty – registry-based study of 103,286 patients. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *93*(0), 837-848. http://dx.doi.org/10.2340/17453674.2022.5253
- 44. Edwards, N. M., Varnum, C., Nelissen, Rghh, Overgaard, S., Pedersen, A. B. (2022). The association between socioeconomic status and the 30- and 90-day risk of infection after total hip arthroplasty : a registry-based cohort study of 103,901 patients with osteoarthritis. *Bone & Joint Journal*, *104-B*(2), 221-226.
- 45. Edwards, N. M., Varnum, C., Overgaard, S., Pedersen, A. B.. (2021). Impact of socioeconomic status on the 90- and 365-day rate of revision and mortality after primary total hip arthroplasty: a cohort study based on 103,901 patients with osteoarthritis from national databases in Denmark. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *92*(5), 581-588.
- 46. Ekman, E., Palomaki, A., Laaksonen, I., Peltola, M., Hakkinen, U., Makela, K. (2019). Early postoperative mortality similar between cemented and uncemented hip arthroplasty: a register study based on Finnish national data. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *90*(1), 6-10.

- 47. Ennin, K. A., Elsharkawy, K. A., Dasgupta, S., Emerson, R. H. (2021). Cemented femoral stem fixation through the anterior approach has fewer early complications than cementless fixation. *Bone and Joint Journal*, *103-B*(7), 33-37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.103B7.BJJ-2020-2230.R1
- 48. Fernandes, L., Storheim, K., Sandvik, L., Nordsletten, L., Risberg, M. A. (2010). Efficacy of patient education and supervised exercise vs patient education alone in patients with hip osteoarthritis: a single blind randomized clinical trial. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *18*(10), 1237-43.
- Fraval, A., Duncan, S., Murray, T., Duggan, J., Tirosh, O., Tran, P. (2019). OBTAIN E: outcome benefits of tranexamic acid in hip arthroplasty with enoxaparin: a randomised double-blinded controlled trial. *Hip International*, 29(3), 239-244. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1120700018780125
- Fraval, A., Effeney, P., Fiddelaers, L., Smith, B., Towell, B., Tran, P.. (2017). OBTAIN A: Outcome Benefits of Tranexamic Acid in Hip Arthroplasty. A Randomized Double-Blinded Controlled Trial. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 32(5), 1516-1519. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2016.11.045
- Free, M. D., Owen, D. H., Pascoe, E., Allen, P., Yang, L., Harvie, P.. (2019). Transfusion rates with intravenous tranexamic acid in total hip arthroplasty performed using the direct anterior approach. *Hip International*, 29(5), 511-515.
- French, H. P., Cusack, T., Brennan, A., Caffrey, A., Conroy, R., Cuddy, V., FitzGerald, O. M., Fitzpatrick, M., Gilsenan, C., Kane, D., O'Connell, P. G., White, B., McCarthy, G. M.. (2013). Exercise and manual physiotherapy arthritis research trial (EMPART) for osteoarthritis of the hip: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, *94*(2), 302-14.
- 53. Fujita, Tsutomu, Hamai, Satoshi, Shiomoto, Kyohei, Okazawa, Kazuya, Nasu, Yu-Ki, Hara, Daisuke, Harada, Satoru, Motomura, Goro, Ikemura, Satoshi, Fujii, Masanori, Kawahara, Shinya, Kawaguchi, Ken-Ichi, Nakashima, Yasuharu. (2022). Analysis of factors influencing patient satisfaction after total hip arthroplasty in a Japanese cohort: the significant effect of postoperative physical activity. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, *34*(2), 76-84. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=pmnm7&NEWS=N&AN=35221508
- 54. Galea, M. P., Levinger, P., Lythgo, N., Cimoli, C., Weller, R., Tully, E., McMeeken, J., Westh, R. (2008). A targeted home- and center-based exercise program for people after total hip replacement: a randomized clinical trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, *89*(8), 1442-7.
- 55. Gandhi, R., Dhotar, H., Davey, J. R., Mahomed, N. N.. (2010). Predicting the longer-term outcomes of total hip replacement. *Journal of Rheumatology*, *37*(12), 2573-7.
- 56. Garland, A., Bulow, E., Lenguerrand, E., Blom, A., Wilkinson, M., Sayers, A., Rolfson, O., Hailer, N. P.. (2021). Prediction of 90-day mortality after total hip arthroplasty. *Bone & Joint Journal*, *103-B*(3), 469-478.
- 57. Goh, G. S., Tarabichi, S., Baker, C. M., Qadiri, Q. S., Austin, M. S. (2022). Should We Aim to Help Patients "Feel Better" or "Feel Good" After Total Hip Arthroplasty? Determining Factors Affecting the Achievement of the Minimal Clinically Important Difference and Patient Acceptable Symptom State. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 12(0), 12.
- 58. Gonzalez, A. I., Luime, J. J., Uçkay, I., Hannouche, D., Hoffmeyer, P., Lübbeke, A. (2018). Is There an Association Between Smoking Status and Prosthetic Joint Infection After Primary Total Joint Arthroplasty?. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *33*(7), 2218-2224.
- Goodman, S. M., Mehta, B., Zhang, M., Szymonifka, J., Nguyen, J. T., Lee, L., Figgie, M. P., Parks, M. L., Dey, S. A., Crego, D., Russell, L. A., Mandl, L. A., Bass, A. R. (2018). Disparities in Total Hip Arthroplasty Outcomes: Census Tract Data Show Interactions Between Race and Community Deprivation. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 26*(21), e457-e464.
- 60. Gurunathan, U., Anderson, C., Berry, K. E., Whitehouse, S. L., Crawford, R. W. (2018). Body mass index and inhospital postoperative complications following primary total hip arthroplasty. *Hip International*, *28*(6), 613-621.
- 61. Haebich, S. J., Mark, P., Khan, R. J. K., Fick, D. P., Brownlie, C., Wimhurst, J. A. (2020). The Influence of Obesity on Hip Pain, Function, and Satisfaction 10 Years Following Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(3), 818-823. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2019.09.046
- 62. Hartford, J. M., Graw, B. P., Frosch, D. L. (2020). Perioperative Complications Stratified by Body Mass Index for the Direct Anterior Approach to Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(9), 2652-2657.
- 63. Havelin, L. I., Espehaug, B., Vollset, S. E., Engesaeter, L. B.. (1994). Early failures among 14,009 cemented and 1,326 uncemented prostheses for primary coxarthrosis. The Norwegian Arthroplasty Register, 1987-1992. *Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica*, *65*(1), 1-6.
- 64. Heiberg, K. E., Bruun-Olsen, V., Ekeland, A., Mengshoel, A. M.. (2012). Effect of a walking skill training program in patients who have undergone total hip arthroplasty: Followup one year after surgery. *Arthritis care & research*, 64(3), 415-23.

- 65. Heiberg, K. E., Figved, W.. (2016). Physical Functioning and Prediction of Physical Activity After Total Hip Arthroplasty: Five-Year Followup of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Arthritis care & research*, *68*(4), 454-62.
- 66. Hjorth, M. H., Lorenzen, N. D., Soballe, K., Jakobsen, S. S., Stilling, M.. (2017). Equal Primary Fixation of Resurfacing Stem, but Inferior Cup Fixation With Anterolateral vs Posterior Surgical Approach. A 2-Year Blinded Randomized Radiostereometric and Dual-energy X-Ray Absorptiometry Study of Metal-on-Metal Hip Resurfacing Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(11), 3412-3420.
- 67. Hoelen, Thomay-Claire Ayala, Schotanus, Martijn, van Kuijk, Sander, Bastiaenen, Caroline, Boonen, Bert, Most, Jasper. (2023). The relation between socioeconomic status and patient symptoms before and one year after lower extremity arthroplasty. *Journal of Orthopaedics*, *39*(0), 11-17. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=pmnm&NEWS=N&AN=37089622
- Huang, G., Zhao, G., Chen, K., Wei, Y., Wang, S., Xia, J.. (2019). How much does lumbar fusion change sagittal pelvic tilt in individuals receiving total hip arthroplasty?. *Arthroplasty (London, England)*, 1(1), 14.
- 69. Huddleston, J. I., Wang, Y., Uquillas, C., Herndon, J. H., Maloney, W. J.. (2012). Age and obesity are risk factors for adverse events after total hip arthroplasty. , 470(2), 490-6.
- Hunt, L. P., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Clark, E. M., Dieppe, P., Judge, A., MacGregor, A. J., Tobias, J. H., Vernon, K., Blom, A. W.. (2013). 90-day mortality after 409,096 total hip replacements for osteoarthritis, from the National Joint Registry for England and Wales: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet*, 382(9898), 1097-104.
- 71. Ibrahim, T., Hobson, S., Beiri, A., Esler, C. N. (2005). No influence of body mass index on early outcome following total hip arthroplasty. *International Orthopaedics*, 29(6), 359-61.
- 72. Imai, N., Dohmae, Y., Suda, K., Miyasaka, D., Ito, T., Endo, N. (2012). Tranexamic acid for reduction of blood loss during total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *27*(10), 1838-43.
- 73. Issa, K., Harwin, S. F., Malkani, A. L., Bonutti, P. M., Scillia, A., Mont, M. A.. (2016). Bariatric orthopaedics: Total hip arthroplasty in super-obese patients (those with a BMI of =50 kg/m2). *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery American Volume*, *98*(3), 180-185. http://dx.doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.O.00474
- 74. Iwata, H., Sakata, K., Sogo, E., Nanno, K., Kuroda, S., Nakai, T. (2018). Total hip arthroplasty via an anterolateral supine approach for obese patients increases the risk of greater trochanteric fracture. *Journal of Orthopaedics*, *15*(2), 379-383.
- 75. Jackson, M. P., Sexton, S. A., Yeung, E., Walter, W. L., Walter, W. K., Zicat, B. A.. (2009). The effect of obesity on the mid-term survival and clinical outcome of cementless total hip replacement. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume*, *91*(10), 1296-300.
- 76. Jamsen, E., Eskelinen, A., Peltola, M., Makela, K. (2014). High early failure rate after cementless hip replacement in the octogenarian. *Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research*, 472(9), 2779-89.
- 77. Jeschke, E., Citak, M., Günster, C., Halder, A. M., Heller, K. D., Malzahn, J., Niethard, F. U., Schräder, P., Zacher, J., Gehrke, T.. (2018). Obesity Increases the Risk of Postoperative Complications and Revision Rates Following Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty: An Analysis of 131,576 Total Hip Arthroplasty Cases. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 33(7), 2287-2292.e1.
- 78. Jimenez, A. E., Glein, R. M., Owens, J. S., George, T., Maldonado, D. R., Saks, B. R., Lall, A. C., Domb, B. G. (2022). Low Body Mass Index in Females May Portend Inferior Outcomes After Primary Hip Arthroscopy: A Propensity-Matched Analysis With Minimum 2-Year Follow-up. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, *50*(2), 499-506.
- 79. Jin, Xin, Chen, Guo, Chen, Mengcun, Riaz, Muhammad N., Wang, Jing, Yang, Shuhua, Xu, Weihua. (2023). Comparison of postoperative outcomes between bikini-incision via direct anterior approach and posterolateral approach in simultaneous bilateral total hip arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), 7023. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=mesx&NEWS=N&AN=37120422
- 80. Jones, C. A., Cox, V., Jhangri, G. S., Suarez-Almazor, M. E. (2012). Delineating the impact of obesity and its relationship on recovery after total joint arthroplasties. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *20*(6), 511-8.
- Jorgensen, Peter Bo, Tabori-Jensen, Steffan, Mechlenburg, Inger, Homilius, Morten, Hansen, Torben Baek, Stilling, Maiken. (2022). Cemented and cementless dual mobility cups show similar fixation, low polyethylene wear, and low serum cobalt-chromium in elderly patients: a randomized radiostereometry study with 6 years' follow-up. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *93*(0), 906-913.

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medl&NEWS=N&AN=36545926

82. Judge, A., Arden, N. K., Batra, R. N., Thomas, G., Beard, D., Javaid, M. K., Cooper, C., Murray, D.. (2013). The association of patient characteristics and surgical variables on symptoms of pain and function over 5 years following primary hip-replacement surgery: a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open*, *3*(3), .

- Judge, A., Cooper, C., Arden, N. K., Williams, S., Hobbs, N., Dixon, D., Günther, K. P., Dreinhoefer, K., Dieppe, P. A.. (2011). Pre-operative expectation predicts 12-month post-operative outcome among patients undergoing primary total hip replacement in European orthopaedic centres. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *19*(6), 659-67.
- 84. Jung, P., Morris, A. J., Zhu, M., Roberts, S. A., Frampton, C., Young, S. W. (2017). BMI is a key risk factor for early periprosthetic joint infection following total hip and knee arthroplasty. *N Z Med J*, *130*(1461), 24-34.
- 85. Juraj, M., Jaroslav, V., Gažová, A., Žufková, V., Kyselovic, J., Šteno, B.. (2021). Evaluation of efficacy and safety of systemic and topical intra-articular administration of tranexamic acid in primary unilateral total hip arthroplasty. *Medicine (United States), 100*(26), E26565. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000026565
- Katakam, A., Florissi, I. S., Colon Iban, Y. E., Bragdon, C. R., Chen, A. F., Melnic, C. M., Bedair, H. S.. (2021). Class III Obesity Increases Risk of Failure to Achieve the 1-Year Hip Disability and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score-Physical Function Short Form Minimal Clinically Important Difference Following Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *36*(1), 187-192.
- 87. Kelly, M. P., Chan, P. H., Prentice, H. A., Paxton, E. W., Hinman, A. D., Khatod, M. (2022). Cause-Specific Stem Revision Risk in Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty Using Cemented vs Cementless Femoral Stem Fixation in a US Cohort. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *37*(1), 89-96.e1.
- Kivitz, A. J., Moskowitz, R. W., Woods, E., Hubbard, R. C., Verburg, K. M., Lefkowith, J. B., Geis, G. S.. (2001). Comparative efficacy and safety of celecoxib and naproxen in the treatment of osteoarthritis of the hip. *Journal of International Medical Research*, 29(6), 467-79.
- Konarski, W., Pobozy, T., Hordowicz, M.. (2022). Tranexamic acid in total knee replacement and total hip replacement – a single-center retrospective, observational study. *Orthopedic Reviews*, 14(3), . http://dx.doi.org/10.52965/001c.33875
- Koressel, J. E., Perez, B. A., DeAngelis, R. D., Kerbel, Y. E., Sheth, N. P., Nelson, C. L. (2022). Profound Impact of Insurance Payor and Socioeconomic Status in Total Hip Arthroplasty Outcomes: Results From a High Volume Tertiary Care Center. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 37(7), S434-S438.
- 91. Köybasi, M., Borman, P., Kocaoglu, S., Ceceli, E.. (2010). The effect of additional therapeutic ultrasound in patients with primary hip osteoarthritis: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Clinical Rheumatology*, *29*(12), 1387-94.
- 92. Lambert, R. G., Hutchings, E. J., Grace, M. G., Jhangri, G. S., Conner-Spady, B., Maksymowych, W. P. (2007). Steroid injection for osteoarthritis of the hip: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, *56*(7), 2278-87.
- Leichtenberg, C. S., Tilbury, C., Kuijer, P., Verdegaal, S., Wolterbeek, R., Nelissen, R., Frings-Dresen, M., Vliet Vlieland, T.. (2016). Determinants of return to work 12 months after total hip and knee arthroplasty. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 98(6), 387-95.
- 94. Li, W., Ayers, D. C., Lewis, C. G., Bowen, T. R., Allison, J. J., Franklin, P. D.. (2017). Functional Gain and Pain Relief After Total Joint Replacement According to Obesity Status. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - American Volume*, 99(14), 1183-1189.
- 95. Liang, C., Wei, J., Cai, X., Lin, W., Fan, Y., Yang, F. (2017). Efficacy and Safety of 3 Different Anesthesia Techniques Used in Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Medical Science Monitor*, *23*(0), 3752-3759.
- 96. Liljensoe, A., Laursen, J. O., Soballe, K., Mechlenburg, I.. (2019). Is high body mass index a potential risk factor for poor outcome after hip arthroplasty? A cohort study of 98 patients 1 year after surgery. *Acta Orthopaedica Belgica*, *85*(1), 91-99.
- Lindberg-Larsen, M., Petersen, P. B., Jorgensen, C. C., Overgaard, S., Kehlet, H., Lundbeck Foundation Center for Fasttrack, Hip, Knee Arthroplasty Collaborating, Group. (2020). Postoperative 30-day complications after cemented/hybrid versus cementless total hip arthroplasty in osteoarthritis patients > 70 years. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 91(3), 286-292.
- 98. Loth, F. L., Giesinger, J. M., Giesinger, K., MacDonald, D. J., Simpson, A. H. R. W., Howie, C. R., Hamilton, D. F. (2017). Impact of Comorbidities on Outcome After Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 32(9), 2755-2761. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2017.04.013
- Luger, M., Hochgatterer, R., Schopper, C., Pisecky, L., Allerstorfer, J., Klasan, A., Gotterbarm, T., Schauer, B. (2021). Obesity in short stem total hip arthroplasty using a minimally invasive supine anterolateral approach-a risk factor for short-term complications?. *International Orthopaedics*, 45(11), 2833-2841.
- 100.Lung, Brandon E., Donnelly, Megan, Callan, Kylie, McLellan, Maddison, Amirhekmat, Arya, McMaster, William C., So, David H., Yang, Steven. (2023). Preoperative Malnutrition and Metabolic Markers May Predict Periprosthetic Fractures in Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Arthroplasty Today*, *19*(0), 101093. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=pmnm&NEWS=N&AN=36691463

- 101. Macheras, G., Stasi, S., Sarantis, M., Triantafyllou, A., Tzefronis, D., Papadakis, S. A.. (2021). Direct anterior approach vs Hardinge in obese and nonobese osteoarthritic patients: A randomized controlled trial. *World Journal of Orthopedics*, *12*(11), 877-890.
- 102.MacKay, C., Webster, F., Venkataramanan, V., Bytautas, J., Perruccio, A. V., Wong, R., Carlesso, L., Davis, A. M.. (2017). A prospective cohort study examining medical and social factors associated with engagement in life activities following total hip replacement. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, 25(7), 1032-1039.
- 103. Mahmood, A., Sawalha, S., Borbora, A., Kumar, G., Peter, V.. (2017). Tranexamic acid versus fibrin sealant in primary total hip replacement: a comparative study. *European journal of orthopaedic surgery & traumatologie*, *27*(7), 923-928.
- 104. Makarowski, W., Zhao, W. W., Bevirt, T., Recker, D. P.. (2002). Efficacy and safety of the COX-2 specific inhibitor valdecoxib in the management of osteoarthritis of the hip: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison with naproxen. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *10*(4), 290-6.
- 105. Mäkelä, K. T., Matilainen, M., Pulkkinen, P., Fenstad, A. M., Havelin, L., Engesaeter, L., Furnes, O., Pedersen, A. B., Overgaard, S., Kärrholm, J., Malchau, H., Garellick, G., Ranstam, J., Eskelinen, A. (2014). Failure rate of cemented and uncemented total hip replacements: register study of combined Nordic database of four nations. *BMJ*, *348*(0), f7592.
- 106. Martin, J. G., Cassatt, K. B., Kincaid-Cinnamon, K. A., Westendorf, D. S., Garton, A. S., Lemke, J. H.. (2014). Topical administration of tranexamic acid in primary total hip and total knee arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *29*(5), 889-94.
- 107. Martz, P., Bourredjem, A., Maillefert, J. F., Binquet, C., Baulot, E., Ornetti, P., Laroche, D.. (2019). Influence of body mass index on sagittal hip range of motion and gait speed recovery six months after total hip arthroplasty. *International Orthopaedics*, *43*(11), 2447-2455.
- 108. Matar, H. E., Pincus, D., Paterson, J. M., Aktar, S., Jenkinson, R., Ravi, B.. (2020). Early Surgical Complications of Total Hip Arthroplasty in Patients With Morbid Obesity: Propensity-Matched Cohort Study of 3683 Patients. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(9), 2646-2651.
- 109. Matharu, G. S., Garriga, C., Rangan, A., Judge, A.. (2020). Does Regional Anesthesia Reduce Complications Following Total Hip and Knee Replacement Compared With General Anesthesia? An Analysis From the National Joint Registry for England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Isle of Man. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 35(6), 1521-1528.e5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2020.02.003
- 110.McCalden, R. W., Charron, K. D., MacDonald, S. J., Bourne, R. B., Naudie, D. D. (2011). Does morbid obesity affect the outcome of total hip replacement?: an analysis of 3290 THRs. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume*, *93*(3), 321-5.
- 111.McLawhorn, A. S., Steinhaus, M. E., Southren, D. L., Lee, Y. Y., Dodwell, E. R., Figgie, M. P.. (2017). Body Mass Index Class Is Independently Associated With Health-Related Quality of Life After Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty: An Institutional Registry-Based Study. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *32*(1), 143-149.
- 112.McVey, L. C., Kane, N., Murray, H., Meek, R. D., Ahmed, S. F. (2020). Elective hip arthroplasty rates and related complications in people with diabetes mellitus. *Hip International*, *0*(0), 1120700020981573.
- 113.Meng, W., Gao, L., Huang, Z., Wang, H., Wang, D., Luo, Z., Bai, Y., Wang, G., Zhou, Z. (2021). Supercapsular percutaneously-assisted total hip (SuperPath) versus mini-incision posterolateral total hip arthroplasty for hip osteoarthritis: a prospective randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, *9*(5), 392.
- 114. Mikkelsen, L. R., Mechlenburg, I., Søballe, K., Jørgensen, L. B., Mikkelsen, S., Bandholm, T., Petersen, A. K.. (2014). Effect of early supervised progressive resistance training compared to unsupervised home-based exercise after fasttrack total hip replacement applied to patients with preoperative functional limitations. A single-blinded randomised controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, 22(12), 2051-8.
- 115. Mohamed, N. S., Castrodad, I. M. D., Etcheson, J. I., Sodhi, N., Remily, E. A., Wilkie, W. A., Mont, M. A., Delanois, R. E.. (2022). Inpatient dislocation after primary total hip arthroplasty: incidence and associated patient and hospital factors. *Hip International*, *32*(2), 152-159. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1120700020940968
- 116. Monaghan, B., Cunningham, P., Harrington, P., Hing, W., Blake, C., O' Dohertya D, Cusack, T.. (2017). Randomised controlled trial to evaluate a physiotherapy-led functional exercise programme after total hip replacement. *Physiotherapy*, *103*(3), 283-288.
- 117. Mouchti, S., Whitehouse, M. R., Sayers, A., Hunt, L. P., MacGregor, A., Blom, A. W.. (2018). The Association of Body Mass Index with Risk of Long-Term Revision and 90-Day Mortality Following Primary Total Hip Replacement: Findings from the National Joint Registry for England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Isle of Man. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - American Volume*, 100(24), 2140-2152.

- 118. Mukka, S., Rolfson, O., Mohaddes, M., Sayed-Noor, A.. (2020). The Effect of Body Mass Index Class on Patient-Reported Health-Related Quality of Life Before and After Total Hip Arthroplasty for Osteoarthritis: Registry-Based Cohort Study of 64,055 Patients. *JB & JS Open Access*, *5*(4), Oct-Dec.
- 119.Na, A., Middleton, A., Haas, A., Graham, J. E., Ottenbacher, K. J.. (2020). Impact of Diabetes on 90-Day Episodes of Care After Elective Total Joint Arthroplasty Among Medicare Beneficiaries. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery -American Volume*, 102(24), 2157-2165.
- 120.Na, H. S., Shin, H. J., Lee, Y. J., Kim, J. H., Koo, K. H., Do, S. H. (2016). The effect of tranexamic acid on blood coagulation in total hip replacement arthroplasty: Rotational thromboelastographic (ROTEM®) analysis. *Anaesthesia*, 71(1), 67-75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/anae.13270
- 121.Negm, A. M., Yavarai, M., Jhangri, G. S., Haennel, R., Jones, C. A. (2022). Augmented Rehabilitation Program for Patients 60 Years and Younger Following Total Hip Arthroplasty-Feasibility Study. *Healthcare*, *10*(7), 09.
- 122. Ninomiya, K., Takahira, N., Ikeda, T., Suzuki, K., Sato, R., Hirakawa, K.. (2020). Predictors of falls in patients during the first year after total hip arthroplasty: A prospective cohort study. *Health Science Reports*, *3*(3), e184.
- 123. Niskanen, R. O., Korkala, O. L. (2005). Tranexamic acid reduces blood loss in cemented hip arthroplasty: a randomized, double-blind study of 39 patients with osteoarthritis. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *76*(6), 829-32.
- 124. Nouri, F., Babaee, M., Peydayesh, P., Esmaily, H., Raeissadat, S. A. (2022). Comparison between the effects of ultrasound guided intra-articular injections of platelet-rich plasma (PRP), high molecular weight hyaluronic acid, and their combination in hip osteoarthritis: a randomized clinical trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 23(1), 856.
- 125.Olsen, A. L., Magnussen, L. H., Skjaerven, L. H., Assmus, J., Sundal, M. A., Furnes, O., Hallan, G., Strand, L. I.. (2022). Basic Body Awareness Therapy versus standard care in hip osteoarthritis. A randomized controlled trial. *Physiotherapy Research International*, *27*(1), e1930.
- 126.Palieri, G., Vetrano, M., Mangone, M., Cereti, M., Bemporad, J., Roselli, G., D'Arrigo, C., Speranza, A., Vulpiani, M. C., Ferretti, A. (2011). Surgical access and damage extent after total hip arthroplasty influence early gait pattern and guide rehabilitation treatment. *European journal of physical & rehabilitation medicine.*, 47(1), 9-17.
- 127.Parvizi, J., Restrepo, C., Maltenfort, M. G. (2016). Total Hip Arthroplasty Performed Through Direct Anterior Approach Provides Superior Early Outcome: Results of a Randomized, Prospective Study. *Orthopedic Clinics of North America*, 47(3), 497-504.
- 128. Paskins, Z., Bromley, K., Lewis, M., Hughes, G., Hughes, E., Hennings, S., Cherrington, A., Hall, A., Holden, M. A., Stevenson, K., Menon, A., Roberts, P., Peat, G., Jinks, C., Kigozi, J., Oppong, R., Foster, N. E., Mallen, C. D., Roddy, E.. (2022). Clinical effectiveness of one ultrasound guided intra-articular corticosteroid and local anaesthetic injection in addition to advice and education for hip osteoarthritis (HIT trial): single blind, parallel group, three arm, randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, *377*(0), e068446.
- 129.Paxton, E. W., Torres, A., Love, R. M., Barber, T. C., Sheth, D. S., Inacio, M. C.. (2016). Total joint replacement: A multiple risk factor analysis of physical activity level 1-2 years postoperatively. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 87 Suppl 1(0), 44-9.
- 130.Pedersen, A. B., Mailhac, A., Garland, A., Overgaard, S., Furnes, O., Lie, S. A., Fenstad, A. M., Rogmark, C., Karrholm, J., Rolfson, O., Haapakoski, J., Eskelinen, A., Makela, K. T., Hailer, N. P. (2021). Similar early mortality risk after cemented compared with cementless total hip arthroplasty for primary osteoarthritis: data from 188,606 surgeries in the Nordic Arthroplasty Register Association database. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *92*(1), 47-53.
- 131.Peltola, M., Järvelin, J.. (2014). Association between household income and the outcome of arthroplasty: a registerbased study of total hip and knee replacements. *Archives of Orthopaedic & Trauma Surgery*, 134(12), 1767-74.
- 132.Peters, R. M., van Steenbergen, L. N., Stewart, R. E., Stevens, M., Rijk, P. C., Bulstra, S. K., Zijlstra, W. P.. (2020). Patient Characteristics Influence Revision Rate of Total Hip Arthroplasty: American Society of Anesthesiologists Score and Body Mass Index Were the Strongest Predictors for Short-Term Revision After Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(1), 188-192.e2.
- 133.Peters, R. M., van Steenbergen, L. N., Stewart, R. E., Stevens, M., Rijk, P. C., Bulstra, S. K., Zijlstra, W. P.. (2021). Which patients improve most after total hip arthroplasty? Influence of patient characteristics on patient-reported outcome measures of 22,357 total hip arthroplasties in the Dutch Arthroplasty Register. *Hip International*, *31*(5), 593-602.
- 134.Pisters, M. F., Veenhof, C., Schellevis, F. G., De Bakker, D. H., Dekker, J.. (2010). Long-term effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a randomized controlled trial comparing two different physical therapy interventions. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *18*(8), 1019-26.
- 135. Poulsen, E., Hartvigsen, J., Christensen, H. W., Roos, E. M., Vach, W., Overgaard, S.. (2013). Patient education with or without manual therapy compared to a control group in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip. A proof-of-principle three-arm parallel group randomized clinical trial. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *21*(10), 1494-503.

- 136.Qvistgaard, E., Christensen, R., Torp-Pedersen, S., Bliddal, H. (2006). Intra-articular treatment of hip osteoarthritis: a randomized trial of hyaluronic acid, corticosteroid, and isotonic saline. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage*, *14*(2), 163-70.
- 137.Radu, A. F., Bungau, S. G., Tit, D. M., Behl, T., Uivaraseanu, B., Marcu, M. F. (2022). Highlighting the Benefits of Rehabilitation Treatments in Hip Osteoarthritis. *Medicina*, *58*(4), 30.
- 138. Reichert, J. C., von Rottkay, E., Roth, F., Renz, T., Hausmann, J., Kranz, J., Rackwitz, L., Nöth, U., Rudert, M. (2018). A prospective randomized comparison of the minimally invasive direct anterior and the transgluteal approach for primary total hip arthroplasty. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *19*(1), 241.
- 139. Repantis, T., Bouras, T., Korovessis, P.. (2015). Comparison of minimally invasive approach versus conventional anterolateral approach for total hip arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. *European journal of orthopaedic surgery & traumatologie*, *25*(1), 111-6.
- 140.Richette, P., Ravaud, P., Conrozier, T., Euller-Ziegler, L., Mazières, B., Maugars, Y., Mulleman, D., Clerson, P., Chevalier, X.. (2009). Effect of hyaluronic acid in symptomatic hip osteoarthritis: a multicenter, randomized, placebocontrolled trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, *60*(3), 824-30.
- 141.Rizzo, M., Russo, A. P., Guarino, A., Izzo, A., Mariconda, M.. (2020). A comparative study of combined intravenous and topical administration of tranexamic acid with topical tranexamic acid alone for blood loss reduction after primary uncemented total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Biological Regulators and Homeostatic Agents*, *34*(3), 105-110. https://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&id=L2005465526&from=export
- 142.Rosenlund, S., Broeng, L., Holsgaard-Larsen, A., Jensen, C., Overgaard, S. (2017). Patient-reported outcome after total hip arthroplasty: comparison between lateral and posterior approach. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *88*(3), 239-247.
- 143. Rosenlund, S., Broeng, L., Overgaard, S., Jensen, C., Holsgaard-Larsen, A. (2016). The efficacy of modified direct lateral versus posterior approach on gait function and hip muscle strength after primary total hip arthroplasty at 12months follow-up. An explorative randomised controlled trial. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *39*(0), 91-99.
- 144.Rostron, Zachary P. J., Zacharias, Anita, Semciw, Adam I., Kingsley, Michael, Pizzari, Tania, Woodley, Stephanie J., Green, Rodney. (2023). Comparison between a targeted exercise program and a sham intervention on gluteal muscle activity in people with hip osteoarthritis: Analysis of secondary outcomes from a randomised clinical trial. *Gait & Posture*, 100(0), 33-40.

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medl&NEWS=N&AN=36469965

145.Rostron, Zachary P. J., Zacharias, Anita, Semciw, Adam I., Kingsley, Michael, Pizzari, Tania, Woodley, Stephanie J., Green, Rodney. (2022). Effects of a targeted resistance intervention compared to a sham intervention on gluteal muscle hypertrophy, fatty infiltration and strength in people with hip osteoarthritis: analysis of secondary outcomes from a randomised clinical trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 23(1), 944.

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=med22&NEWS=N&AN=36309690
146.Rubenstein, W. J., Harris, A. H. S., Hwang, K. M., Giori, N. J., Kuo, A. C. (2020). Social Determinants of Health and Patient-Reported Outcomes Following Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in Veterans. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(9), 2357-2362.

- 147. Rykov, K., Meys, Twgm, Knobben, B. A. S., Sietsma, M. S., Reininga, I. H. F., Ten Have, Blef. (2021). MRI Assessment of Muscle Damage After the Posterolateral Versus Direct Anterior Approach for THA (Polada Trial). A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *36*(9), 3248-3258.e1.
- 148.Sadr Azodi, O., Bellocco, R., Eriksson, K., Adami, J.. (2006). The impact of tobacco use and body mass index on the length of stay in hospital and the risk of post-operative complications among patients undergoing total hip replacement. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume*, *88*(10), 1316-20.
- 149.Sali, E., Marmorat, J. L., Gaudot, F., Nich, C.. (2020). Perioperative complications and causes of 30- and 90-day readmission after direct anterior approach primary total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Orthopaedics*, *17*(0), 69-72.
- 150.Salib, C. G., Reina, N., Perry, K. I., Taunton, M. J., Berry, D. J., Abdel, M. P. (2019). Lumbar fusion involving the sacrum increases dislocation risk in primary total hip arthroplasty. *Bone and Joint Journal, 101 B*(2), 198-206. http://dx.doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.101B2.BJJ-2018-0754.R1
- 151.Sayed-Noor, A. S., Mukka, S., Mohaddes, M., Karrholm, J., Rolfson, O. (2019). Body mass index is associated with risk of reoperation and revision after primary total hip arthroplasty: a study of the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register including 83,146 patients. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *90*(3), 220-225.
- 152.Schnitzer, T. J., Dattani, I. D., Seriolo, B., Schneider, H., Moore, A., Tseng, L., Sallstig, P., Rebuli, R., Maxwell, T.. (2011). A 13-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind study of lumiracoxib in hip osteoarthritis. *Clinical Rheumatology*, *30*(11), 1433-46.

- 153.Shadyab, A. H., Li, W., Eaton, C. B., LaCroix, A. Z. (2018). General and Abdominal Obesity as Risk Factors for Late-Life Mobility Limitation After Total Knee or Hip Replacement for Osteoarthritis Among Women. *Arthritis care & research*, 70(7), 1030-1038.
- 154.Shaka, H., Ojemolon, P. E. (2020). Impact of Obesity on Outcomes of Patients With Hip Osteoarthritis Who Underwent Hip Arthroplasty. *Cureus*, *12*(10), e10876.
- 155.Sirignano, Michael, Nessler, Joseph M., Rhea, Evan B., Ong, Kevin L., Watson, Heather, Yakkanti, Madhusudhan R., Malkani, Arthur L. (2023). "Incidence of Instability Following Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty Continues to Decline in the Medicare Population". *The Journal of arthroplasty*, *0*(0), .
- http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medp&NEWS=N&AN=37088227 156.Skutek, M., Wirries, N., von Lewinski, G. (2016). Hip arthroplasty in obese patients: Rising prevalence–standard
- procedures?. *Orthopedic Reviews*, *8*(2), 64-67. http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/or.2016.6379 157.Steinhilber, B., Haupt, G., Miller, R., Janssen, P., Krauss, I.. (2017). Exercise therapy in patients with hip osteoarthritis:
- Effect on hip muscle strength and safety aspects of exercise-results of a randomized controlled trial. *Modern Rheumatology*, *27*(3), 493-502.
- 158. Stevens, M., Paans, N., Wagenmakers, R., van Beveren, J., van Raay, J. J., van der Meer, K., Stewart, R., Bulstra, S. K., Reininga, I. H., van den Akker-Scheek, I.. (2012). The influence of overweight/obesity on patient-perceived physical functioning and health-related quality of life after primary total hip arthroplasty. *Obes Surg*, 22(4), 523-9.
- 159.Svege, I., Fernandes, L., Nordsletten, L., Holm, I., Risberg, M. A. (2016). Long-Term Effect of Exercise Therapy and Patient Education on Impairments and Activity Limitations in People With Hip Osteoarthritis: Secondary Outcome Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Physical Therapy*, *96*(6), 818-27.
- 160.Svege, I., Nordsletten, L., Fernandes, L., Risberg, M. A.. (2015). Exercise therapy may postpone total hip replacement surgery in patients with hip osteoarthritis: a long-term follow-up of a randomised trial. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 74(1), 164-9.
- 161.Svensson, O., Malmenäs, M., Fajutrao, L., Roos, E. M., Lohmander, L. S.. (2006). Greater reduction of knee than hip pain in osteoarthritis treated with naproxen, as evaluated by WOMAC and SF-36. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 65(6), 781-4.
- 162. Tak, E., Staats, P., Van Hespen, A., Hopman-Rock, M. (2005). The effects of an exercise program for older adults with osteoarthritis of the hip. *Journal of Rheumatology*, *32*(6), 1106-13.
- 163. Tan, B. K. L., Khan, R. J. K., Haebich, S. J., Maor, D., Blake, E. L., Breidahl, W. H. (2019). Piriformis-Sparing Minimally Invasive Versus the Standard Posterior Approach for Total Hip Arthroplasty: A 10-Year Follow-Up of a Randomized Control Trial. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *34*(2), 319-326.
- 164.Taunton, M. J., Mason, J. B., Odum, S. M., Springer, B. D.. (2014). Direct anterior total hip arthroplasty yields more rapid voluntary cessation of all walking aids: a prospective, randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, 29(9), 169-72.
- 165. Taunton, M. J., Trousdale, R. T., Sierra, R. J., Kaufman, K., Pagnano, M. W.. (2018). John Charnley Award: Randomized Clinical Trial of Direct Anterior and Miniposterior Approach THA: Which Provides Better Functional Recovery?. *Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research*, 476(2), 216-229.
- 166. Teirlinck, C. H., Luijsterburg, P. A., Dekker, J., Bohnen, A. M., Verhaar, J. A., Koopmanschap, M. A., van Es, P. P., Koes, B. W., Bierma-Zeinstra, S. M. (2016). Effectiveness of exercise therapy added to general practitioner care in patients with hip osteoarthritis: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis & Cartilage, 24*(1), 82-90.
- 167. Thompson, A. R., Christopherson, Z., Marshall, L. M., Carlson, H. L., Carlson, N. L. (2020). A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial for Aerobic and Strengthening Exercises on Physical Function and Pain for Hip Osteoarthritis. *Pm & R*, *12*(3), 229-237.
- 168. Tohidi, M., Brogly, S. B., Lajkosz, K., Harrison, M. M., Campbell, A. R., VanDenKerkhof, E., Mann, S. M. (2019). Tenyear risk of complication and mortality after total hip arthroplasty in morbidly obese patients: a population study. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, *62*(6), 442-449.
- 169.Tram, M. K., O'Connor, C. M., Qian, A. S., Tram, J. T., Tetreault, M. W. (2022). Frailty Is Associated With Increased 30-Day Adverse Events and Hospitalization Costs After Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *37*(8), S925-S930.e4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2022.01.047
- 170. Weiner, J. A., Adhia, A. H., Feinglass, J. M., Suleiman, L. I.. (2020). Disparities in Hip Arthroplasty Outcomes: Results of a Statewide Hospital Registry From 2016 to 2018. *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *35*(7), 1776-1783.e1. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2020.02.051
- 171.Weiss, R. J., Karrholm, J., Rolfson, O., Hailer, N. P.. (2019). Increased early mortality and morbidity after total hip arthroplasty in patients with socioeconomic disadvantage: a report from the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register. *Acta Orthopaedica*, *90*(3), 264-269.

- 172. Wilson, Jacob M., Smartt, Anne A., Abdel, Matthew P., Mabry, Tad M., Berry, Daniel J., Trousdale, Robert T., Sierra, Rafael J. (2023). Can Selected Use of Cemented and Uncemented Femoral Components in a Broad Population Produce Comparable Results Following Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty for Osteoarthritis?. *The Journal of arthroplasty*, *0*(0), . http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medp&NEWS=N&AN=37044223
- 173.Xie, J., Zhang, H., Wang, L., Yao, X., Pan, Z., Jiang, Q. (2017). Comparison of supercapsular percutaneously assisted approach total hip versus conventional posterior approach for total hip arthroplasty: a prospective, randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery*, *12*(1), 138.
- 174.Xu, X., Jiang, J., Liu, W., Li, X., Lu, H.. (2019). Application of thromboelastography to evaluate the effect of different routes administration of tranexamic acid on coagulation function in total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery*, *14*(1), 430.
- 175.Yamaguchi, A., Goto, K., Kawai, T., Kuroda, Y., Sano, K., Matsuda, S. (2019). Dose optimization of topical tranexamic acid for primary total hip arthroplasty: A prospective cohort study. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, *24*(2), 275-279.
- 176.Yang, Q., Li, J., Shi, D., Xie, H., Wang, J., Shi, Z., Zhang, Y.. (2022). Incidence and risk factors associated with hospitalacquired pressure ulcers following total hip arthroplasty: A retrospective nationwide inpatient sample database study. *Journal of Tissue Viability*, *31*(2), 332-338.
- 177.Yeung, E., Jackson, M., Sexton, S., Walter, W., Zicat, B., Walter, W.. (2011). The effect of obesity on the outcome of hip and knee arthroplasty. *International Orthopaedics*, *35*(6), 929-34.
- 178.Zomar, B. O., Bryant, D., Hunter, S., Howard, J. L., Vasarhelyi, E. M., Lanting, B. A.. (2018). A randomised trial comparing spatio-temporal gait parameters after total hip arthroplasty between the direct anterior and direct lateral surgical approaches. *Hip International*, *28*(5), 478-484.
- 179.Zufferey, P. J., Lanoiselée, J., Chapelle, C., Borisov, D. B., Bien, J. Y., Lambert, P., Philippot, R., Molliex, S., Delavenne, X., Barbe, N., Gavory, J., Passot, S., Burnol, L., Seve, S.. (2017). Intravenous Tranexamic Acid Bolus plus Infusion Is Not More Effective than a Single Bolus in Primary Hip Arthroplasty: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Anesthesiology, 127(3), 413-422. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/ALN.00000000001787

Supplementary References

- 1. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee (Non-Arthroplasty) Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline (3rd Edition). https://www.aaos.org/oak3cpg Published August 31, 2021.
- 2. American Joint Replacement Registry (AJRR): 2022 Annual Report. Rosemont, IL: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS), 2022.
- 3. Bunyoz, Kristine Ifigenia, et al. "Has the use of fixation techniques in THA changed in this decade? The uncemented paradox revisited." Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research 478.4 (2020): 697.
- 4. Rassir, Rachid, et al. "What are the frequency, related mortality, and factors associated with bone cement implantation syndrome in arthroplasty surgery?." Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research 479.4 (2021): 755.
- Porter, Steven B., et al. "Tranexamic acid administration is not associated with an increase in complications in highrisk patients undergoing primary total knee or total hip arthroplasty: a retrospective case-control study of 38,220 patients." The Journal of Arthroplasty 35.1 (2020): 45-51.
- 6. Shields, Edward, et al. "Mortality and financial burden of periprosthetic fractures of the femur." Geriatric orthopaedic surgery & rehabilitation 5.4 (2014): 147-153.

Appendix II: PICO Questions and Inclusion Criteria Used to Define Literature Search

PICO Questions

- 1. In patients with symptomatic OA of the hip undergoing arthroplasty, does BMI affect patient adverse events post-surgery?
- 2. In patients with symptomatic OA of the hip undergoing arthroplasty, does BMI affect patient clinical outcomes post-surgery?
- 3. In patients with osteoarthritis undergoing THA and with no known contraindications to the use of tranexamic acid, does the use of topical or intravenous tranexamic acid reduce complications and / or improve outcomes compared to not using tranexamic acid?
- 4. In patients with symptomatic hip OA, who have undergone total hip replacement, does postoperative physical therapy lead to better outcomes compared with patients who do not undergo PT or undergo comparison PTs?
- 5. In patients with symptomatic hip OA, not scheduled for total hip replacement, does physical therapy lead to better outcomes compared with patients without treatment?
- 6. In patients with symptomatic Hip OA, does use of IA corticosteroid or HA improve pain, stiffness, quality of life, and/or function?
- 7. In patients with symptomatic Hip OA who are being conservatively treated, does use of prescription opioids improve pain, stiffness, quality of life, and/or function, or lead to adverse events?
- 8. In patients with poorly controlled diabetes and symptomatic OA of the Hip undergoing hip surgery (THA), is there a difference in short term adverse events and functional recovery compared to patients with well controlled diabetes or no diabetes?
- 9. In patients with symptomatic OA of the Hip undergoing THA, does socioeconomic status, social comorbidities, and/or lack of social support affect outcomes?
- 10. In patients with symptomatic Hip OA, does NSAID pharmacologic management improve pain, stiffness, quality of life, and/or function?
- 11. In patients with symptomatic Hip OA, does acetaminophen pharmacologic management improve pain, stiffness, quality of life, and/or function?
- 12. In elderly patients with symptomatic Hip OA undergoing THA, is there a difference in clinical outcomes between those who receive cemented femoral fixation and cementless femoral fixation?
- 13. Among patients undergoing THA, is there a difference in adverse events, reoperations, or revisions in patients with stiff spine syndrome versus those without?
- 14. Do different anesthesia types affect outcomes of patients with symptomatic hip OA undergoing THA?

Inclusion Criteria

To be included in our systematic reviews (and hence, in this guideline) an article had to meet the following criteria:

- Study must be of OAH or prevention thereof.
- Study must be published in or after 1966 for surgical treatment, rehabilitation, bracing, prevention, and MRI.
- Study must be published in or after 1966 for x rays and non-operative treatment.
- Study must be published in or after 1966 for all others non specified.
- Study should have 10 or more patients per group.
- For surgical treatment a minimum of 3 months follow up duration.
- Antibiotic prophylaxis, anti-coagulations, mode of anesthesia: all follow-ups
- For non-operative treatment a minimum of 1 month.

Standard Criteria for all CPGs:

- The article must be a full article report of a clinical study.
- · Retrospective non-comparative case series, medical records review, meeting abstracts, historical
- articles, editorials, letters, and commentaries are excluded.
- · Confounded studies (i.e., studies that give patients the treatment of interest AND another treatment)
- · are excluded.
- · Case series studies that have non-consecutive enrollment of patients are excluded.
- Controlled trials in which patients were not stochastically assigned to groups AND in which there was either a difference in patient characteristics or outcomes at baseline AND where the authors did not statistically adjust for these differences when analyzing the results are excluded.
- All studies of "Very Low" Quality of evidence are excluded.
- All studies evaluated as Level V will be excluded.
- · Composite measures or outcomes are excluded even if they are patient oriented.
- Study must appear in a peer-reviewed publication.
- For any included study that uses "paper-and-pencil" outcome measures (e.g., SF-36), only those outcome measures that have been validated will be included.
- For any given follow-up time point in any included study, there must be ≥ 50% patient follow-up (if the follow-up is >50% but <80%, the study quality will be downgraded by one Level)
- · Study must be of humans.
- Study must be published in English.
- Study results must be quantitatively presented.
- Study must not be an in vitro study.
- Study must not be a biomechanical study.
- Study must not have been performed on cadavers.

We will only evaluate surrogate outcomes when no patient-oriented outcomes are available.

Best Available Evidence

When examining primary studies, we will analyze the best available evidence regardless of study design. We will first consider randomized controlled trials identified by the search strategy. In the absence of two or more RCTs, we will sequentially search for prospective controlled trials, prospective comparative studies, retrospective comparative studies, and prospective case-series studies. Only studies of the highest level of available evidence are included, assuming that there were 2 or more 100 studies of that higher level. For example, if there are two Level II studies that address the recommendation, Level III and IV studies are not included.

We will only evaluate surrogate outcomes when no patient-oriented outcomes are available. We did not include systematic reviews or meta-analyses compiled by others or guidelines developed by other organizations. These documents are developed using different inclusion criteria than those specified by the AAOS work group. Therefore, they may include studies that do not meet our inclusion criteria. We recalled these documents, if the abstract suggested they might provide an answer to one of our recommendations and searched their bibliographies for additional studies to supplement our systematic review *2022 literature search for all PICOs will be performed from last search date of 2017 CPG.

Appendix III: Literature Search Strategy

Database:	MEDLINE
	Ovid MEDLINE [®] and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Daily
Interface:	and Versions [®] 1946 to October 3, 2022
Date of Original	
Guideline	6/2/2015
Search:	
Date of Initial	
Search:	10/4/2022
Date of Updated	
Search:	5/2/2023
Search	OA Hip 2022
Line	Search Strategy
1	English.lg.
2	(exp Animals/ NOT Humans/) OR exp Cadaver/ OR cadaver*.ti,ab. OR in-vitro.ti. OR ((comment OR editorial OR letter OR historical article) NOT clinical trial).pt. OR address.pt. OR news.pt. OR newspaper article.pt. OR pmcbook.af. OR case reports.pt. OR (case report? OR abstracts OR editorial OR reply OR comment? OR commentary OR letter).ti. OR (animal* OR dog OR dogs OR sheepdog OR canine OR cats OR feline OR horse* OR equine OR donkey* OR mouse OR mice OR murin?e OR woodmouse OR rat OR rats OR cottonrat* OR rodent* OR hamster* OR squirrel* OR chipmunk* OR otter* OR weasel* OR badger* OR beaver* OR llama* OR alpaca* OR rabbit* OR hare OR hares OR sheep OR ovine OR lamb* OR goat* OR porcine OR swine* OR pig OR pigs OR piglet* OR boar OR boars OR hog OR hogs OR cow OR cows OR cattle* OR bull OR bulls OR bovine OR bison* OR buffalo* OR monkey* OR ape OR apes OR baboon* OR gibbon* OR bonobo* OR gorilla* OR lemur* OR chimp* OR orangutan* OR macaque* OR marmoset* OR primate* OR bear OR bears OR avian OR bird* OR hen OR hens OR chicken* OR duck? OR goose OR geese OR poultr* OR fowl? OR turkey* OR deer OR doe OR reindeer OR dolphin OR (fish* NOT fisher*) OR pisces OR trout* OR zebrafish* OR catfish* OR goldfish* OR seahorse* OR shark* OR salmon* OR whitefish* OR reptil* OR snake* OR lizard* OR alligator* OR crocodile* OR turtle* OR amphibian* OR frog* OR toad* OR eel? OR salamander* OR veterinar*).ti.
3	1 NOT 2
4	Osteoarthritis-Hip/ OR ((Hip/ OR exp Hip-Joint/ OR (hip OR hips).tw,kf.) and (exp Osteoarthritis/ OR (osteoarthr* OR osteo-arthr* OR arthrosis OR arthroses).tw,kf.)) OR (coxarthros* OR malum-coxae-senilis).tw,kf.
5	3 AND 4
6	limit 5 to yr=2015-Current
7	Arthroplasty-Replacement-Hip/ OR Arthroplasty-Replacement/ OR Hip-Prosthesis/ OR Hip- Joint/su OR (arthroplast* OR replacement? OR THA OR THR).tw.

8	Body-Mass-Index/ OR exp Body-Weight/ OR Adiposity/ OR ((body ADJ (mass OR fat)) OR BMI OR obes* OR (weight ADJ2 (body OR loss OR management OR control OR reduction OR counselling OR advice)) OR overweight OR underweight).tw.
9	6 AND 7 AND 8
10	Tranexamic Acid/ OR tranexamic.tw.
11	6 AND 7 AND 10
12	exp Physical-Therapy-Modalities/ OR Conservative-Treatment/ae OR (((physical OR physio OR exercis* OR manual OR spa OR occupational) ADJ3 therap*) OR physiotherap* OR physical-activit* OR ((resistance OR strength) ADJ training) OR rehab* OR prehab* OR telerehab* OR telehealth OR (web-based ADJ3 (program* OR intervention*)) OR (exercis* ADJ4 (train* OR program* OR intervention* OR strength* OR supervis* OR unsupervis* OR based OR educat* OR medicine)) OR hydrotherap* OR (thermal ADJ2 water?) OR cryotherap* OR acupuncture OR (electr*8 ADJ5 stimulat*) OR Tai-Chi OR cycling OR self- manag* OR (dr ADJ2 Bart)).tw.
13	6 AND 12
14	exp Adrenal-Cortex-Hormones/ OR (corticosteroid* OR (steroid* NOT (non-steroid*)) OR prednisone OR prednisolone OR methylprednisolone OR triamcinolone OR dexamethasone OR glucocorticoid*).tw.

Г

15	Viscosupplements/ OR Viscosupplementation/ OR Hyaluronic-Acid/ OR (hyal* OR hylan OR viscosupplement* OR (HA ADJ2 deriv*)).tw.
16	Injections-Intra-Articular/ OR ((intraarticular OR intra-articular) AND (delivery OR administration OR inject*)).tw.
17	6 AND (14 OR 15 OR 16)
18	exp Narcotics/ OR Tramadol/ OR (narcotic* OR opioid* OR opiate* OR fentanyl OR morphine OR oxycodone OR codeine OR tramadol).tw.
19	6 AND 18
20	exp Diabetes-Mellitus/ OR diabet*.tw.
21	6 AND 7 AND 20

22	Healthcare-Disparities/ OR exp Sociological-Factors/ OR exp Socioeconomic-Factors/ OR exp Insurance-Coverage/ OR exp *Health-Facilities/ OR exp Population/ OR exp Population- Groups/ OR Demography/ OR ((race OR racial OR ethnic* OR social OR socio* OR psychosoci* OR insurance OR insured OR uninsured OR geograph* OR communit*) ADJ5 (difference? OR disparit* OR impact* OR outcome? OR effect? OR predict* OR factor? OR prognos* OR risk? OR correlat* OR related OR relationship? OR determinant* OR associat* OR parameter?)).tw. OR ((social ADJ (support OR isolation)) OR (education* ADJ3 (level? OR lower OR higher)) OR (pay#r* ADJ status) OR employment OR ((household OR quintile) ADJ1 income) OR deprivation).tw.
23	6 AND 7 AND 22
24	exp Anti-Inflammatory Agents-Non-Steroidal/ OR (NSAID* OR non-steroidal OR nonsteroidal OR ketorolac OR COX-2-inhibitor* OR COX2-inhibitor* OR celecoxib OR diclofenac OR aspirin).tw.
25	6 AND 24

26	Acetaminophen/ OR (acetaminophen OR paracetamol).tw.
27	6 AND 26
28	*Bone-Cements/ OR *Cementation/ OR exp *Methylmethacrylates/ OR (((cement? OR cemented OR cementation) AND (cementless OR uncement* OR noncement* OR press-fit* OR (thread* ADJ2 (cup? OR component?)))) OR (hybrid ADJ3 (arthroplast* OR replacement? OR resurfac* OR THR? OR THA?)) OR polymethylmethacrylate* OR methylmethacrylate* OR methyl-methacrylate* OR ((mode? OR method?) ADJ3 fixat*) OR ((with ADJ3 cement*) AND (without ADJ3 cement*))).tw.
29	5 AND / AND 28

30	exp Spinal-Disease/ OR exp Back-Pain/ OR (((stiff* OR mobility OR motion OR hypermobil* OR alignment OR malalignment OR imbalance OR balance OR parameter? OR orientation OR tilt OR position* OR mechanic* OR indices OR inclination OR morpholog* OR obliquit* OR stability OR instability OR control) ADJ3 (spine OR spinal OR spinopelvic OR pelvic OR postur* OR lumbar OR whole-body OR neuromuscular)) OR sacral-slope OR ((hip OR spine) ADJ (syndrome* OR relation*)) OR postural-recovery OR spondylitis OR spondylosis OR spondyloarthr* OR spondylo-arthr* OR ankly* OR ((spine OR spinal OR lumbar OR interbody) ADJ2 fusion?) OR (back ADJ5 pain?) OR lower-back).tw.
31	5 AND 7 AND 30
32	exp Anesthesia-and-Analgesia/ OR exp Anesthetics/ OR Analgesics/ OR (an?esthesia OR an?esthetic? OR analges*).tw.
33	6 AND 7 AND 32
34	Tobacco/ OR exp Tobacco-Use/ OR Tobacco-Use-Disorder/ OR exp Smoking/ OR (tobacco OR nicotine OR smoking OR smoker? OR smoke).tw.
35	6 AND 7 AND 34
36	(((anterior OR anterolateral OR lateral OR posterolateral OR posterior OR miniposterior OR superior OR classic OR invasive) ADJ4 approach*) OR ((surgical OR operative) ADJ approach*)).tw.
37	6 AND 7 AND 36
38	randomized-controlled-trial.pt. OR exp Randomized-Controlled-Trials-as-Topic/ OR Random-Allocation/ OR random*.ti,ab.
39	(MEDLINE OR (systematic* AND review*) OR meta-analys*).ti,ab. OR (meta-analysis OR systematic-review).pt.
40	(17 OR 25 OR 37) AND (38 OR 39)
41	40 OR (9 OR 11 OR 13 OR 19 OR 21 OR 23 OR 27 OR 29 OR 31 OR 33 OR 35)
50	46 OR 49
	T
---------------------------------------	---
Database:	Embase
Interface:	Elsevier (https://embase.com)
Date or Original Guideline Search:	6/3/2015
Date of Initial Search:	10/4/2022
Date of Updated Search:	5/2/2023
Search	OA Hip 2022
Line	Search Strategy
1	[english]/lim
2	abstract-report/de OR book/de OR editorial/de OR editorial:it OR note/de OR note:it OR letter/de OR letter:it OR case-study/de OR case-report/de OR chapter:it OR conference-paper/exp OR conference-paper:it OR conference-abstract:it OR conference-review:it OR (abstracts OR editorial OR reply OR comment\$ OR commentary OR letter):ti OR cadaver/de OR in-vitro-study/exp OR cadaver*:ti,ab OR in-vitro:ti OR animal-experiment/exp OR veterinary-study/exp OR (nonhuman/de NOT human/exp) OR (animal* OR dog OR dogs OR sheepdog OR canine OR cats OR feline OR horse* OR equine OR donkey* OR mouse OR mice OR murin\$e OR woodmouse OR rat OR rats OR cottonrat* OR rodent* OR hamster* OR squirrel* OR chipmunk* OR otter* OR weasel* OR badger* OR beaver* OR llama* OR alpaca* OR rabbit* OR hare OR hares OR sheep OR ovine OR lamb* OR goat* OR porcine OR swine* OR pig OR pigs OR piglet* OR boar OR boars OR hog OR hogs OR cow OR cows OR cattle* OR bull OR bulls OR bovine OR bison* OR buffalo* OR monkey* OR ape OR apes OR baboon* OR gibbon* OR bonobo* OR gorilla* OR lemur* OR chimp* OR orangutan* OR hone OR marmoset* OR primate* OR bear OR bears OR avian OR bird* OR hen OR hens OR chicken* OR duck\$ OR goose OR geese OR poultr* OR fowl\$ OR turkey* OR deer OR doe OR reindeer OR dolphin OR (fish* NOT fisher*) OR pisces OR trout* OR zebrafish* OR catfish* OR goldfish* OR seahorse* OR shark* OR salmon* OR whitefish* OR reptil* OR snake* OR lizard* OR alligator* OR crocodile* OR turtle* OR amphibian* OR frog* OR toad* OR eel\$ OR salamander* OR veterinar*):ti
3	#1 NOT #2
4	hip-osteoarthritis/exp OR ((hip/exp OR (hip OR hips):ti,ab) AND (osteoarthritis/exp OR (osteoarthr* OR osteo-arthr* OR arthrosis OR arthroses):ti,ab)) OR (coxarthros* OR malum-coxae-senilis):ti,ab
5	#3 AND #4
6	#3 AND #4 AND [2015-2023]/py
7	hip-arthroplasty/exp OR replacement-arthroplasty/de OR total-arthroplasty/de OR hip-prosthesis/exp OR (arthroplast* OR replacement\$ OR THA OR THR):ti,ab
8	body-mass/de OR body-weight/exp OR ((body NEAR/1 (mass OR fat)) OR BMI OR obes* OR (weight NEAR/2 (body OR loss OR management OR control OR reduction OR counselling OR advice)) OR overweight OR underweight):ti,ab
9	#6 AND #7 AND #8
10	tranexamic-acid/de OR tranexamic:ti,ab
11	#6 AND #7 AND #10

12	physiotherapy/exp OR kinesiotherapy/exp OR (((physical OR physio OR exercis* OR manual OR spa OR occupational) NEAR/3 therap*) OR physiotherap* OR physical-activit* OR ((resistance OR strength) NEAR/1 training) OR rehab* OR prehab* OR telerehab* OR telehealth OR (web-based NEAR/3 (program* OR intervention*)) OR (exercis* NEAR/4 (train* OR program* OR intervention* OR strength* OR supervis* OR unsupervis* OR based OR educat* OR medicine)) OR hydrotherap* OR (thermal NEAR/2 water\$) OR cryotherap* OR acupuncture OR (electr* NEAR/5 stimulat*) OR Tai-Chi OR cycling OR self-manag* OR (dr NEAR/2 Bart)):ti,ab
13	#6 AND #12
14	corticosteroid/exp OR (corticosteroid* OR (steroid* NOT (non-steroid*)) OR prednisone OR prednisolone OR methylprednisolone OR triamcinolone OR dexamethasone OR glucocorticoid*):ti,ab
15	viscosupplement/de OR viscosupplementation/de OR hyaluronic-acid/de OR (hyal* OR hylan OR viscosupplement* OR (HA NEAR/2 deriv*)):ti,ab
16	intraarticular-drug-administration/exp OR ((intraarticular OR intra-articular) AND (delivery OR administration OR inject*)):ti,ab
17	#6 AND (#14 OR #15 OR #16)
18	narcotic-agent/exp OR narcotic-analgesic-agent/exp OR tramadol/de OR (narcotic* OR opioid* OR opiate* OR fentanyl OR morphine OR oxycodone OR codeine OR tramadol):ti,ab
19	#6 AND #18
20	diabetes-mellitus/exp OR diabet*:ti,ab
21	#6 AND #7 AND #20
22	health-care-disparity/de OR social-aspects-and-related-phenomena/exp OR insurance/exp OR population/exp OR population-group/exp OR population- parameters/exp OR population-reserach/de OR demography/exp OR ethnic-or- racial-aspects/exp OR ((race OR racial OR ethnic* OR social OR socio* OR psychosoci* OR insurance OR insured OR uninsured OR geograph* OR communit*) NEAR/5 (difference\$ OR disparit* OR impact* OR outcome\$ OR effect\$ OR predict* OR factor\$ OR prognos* OR risk\$ OR correlat* OR related OR relationship\$ OR determinant* OR associat* OR parameter\$)):ti,ab OR ((social NEAR/1 (support OR isolation)) OR (education* NEAR/3 (level\$ OR lower OR higher)) OR (pay?r* NEAR/1 status) OR employment OR ((household OR quintile) NEAR/1 income) OR deprivation):ti,ab
23	#6 AND #7 AND #22
24	nonsteroid-antiinflammatory-agent/exp OR cyclooxygenase-2-inhibitor/exp OR (NSAID* OR non-steroidal OR nonsteroidal OR ketorolac OR ((COX-2 OR COX2) NEAR/1 inhibitor*) OR celecoxib OR diclofenac OR aspirin):ti,ab
25	#6 AND #24
26	paracetamol/de OR (acetaminophen OR paracetamol):ti,ab
27	#6 AND #26
28	bone-cement/exp OR (((cement\$ OR cemented OR cementation) AND (cementless OR uncement* OR noncement* OR press-fit* OR (thread* NEAR/2 (cup\$ OR component\$)))) OR (hybrid NEAR/3 (arthroplast* OR replacement\$ OR resurfac* OR THR\$ OR THA\$)) OR polymethylmethacrylate* OR methylmethacrylate* OR

	methyl-methacrylate* OR ((mode\$ OR method\$) NEAR/3 fixat*) OR ((with NEXT/3 cement*) AND (without NEXT/3 cement*))):ti,ab
29	#5 AND #7 AND #28
30	spine-disease/exp OR (((stiff* OR mobility OR motion OR hypermobil* OR alignment OR malalignment OR imbalance OR balance OR parameter\$ OR orientation OR tilt OR position* OR mechanic* OR indices OR inclination OR morpholog* OR obliquit* OR stability OR instability OR control) NEAR/3 (spine\$ OR spinal OR spinopelvic OR pelvic OR postur* OR lumbar OR whole-body OR neuromuscular)) OR sacral-slope OR ((hip OR spine) NEAR/1 (syndrome* OR relation*)) OR postural-recovery OR spondylitis OR spondylosis OR spondyloarthr* OR spondylo-arthr* OR ankly* OR ((spine OR spinal OR lumbar OR interbody) NEAR/2 fusion\$) OR (back NEAR/5 pain\$) OR lower-back):ti,ab
31	#5 AND #7 AND #30
32	anesthesiological-procedure/exp OR anesthetic-agent/exp OR analgesic-agent/exp OR (an\$esthesia OR an\$esthetic\$ OR analges*):ti,ab
33	#6 AND #7 AND #32
34	tobacco-use/exp OR (tobacco OR nicotine OR smoking OR smoker\$ OR smoke):ti,ab
35	#6 AND #7 AND #34
36	(((anterior OR anterolateral OR lateral OR posterolateral OR posterior OR miniposterior OR superior OR classic OR invasive) NEAR/4 approach*) OR ((surgical OR operative) NEAR/1 approach*)):ti,ab
37	#6 AND #7 AND #36
38	randomized-controlled-trial/exp OR randomized-controlled-trial-topic/exp OR randomization/de OR random*:ti,ab,kw
39	systematic-review/exp OR meta-analysis/exp OR ((systematic* NEAR/2 review*):ti,ab,kw) OR meta-analys*:ti,ab,kw
40	(#17 OR #25 OR #37) AND (#38 OR #39)
41	#40 OR (#9 OR #11 OR #13 OR #19 OR #21 OR #23 OR #27 OR #29 OR #31 OR #33 OR #35)
50	#46 OR #49

Databasa	Cachrana Librany
Dete en Orieinel Orieli	wiley.com
Search:	6/5/2015
Date of Initial Search:	10/4/2022
Date of Updated Search:	5/2/2023
Search	OA Hip 2022
Line	Search Strategy
1	((hip OR hips):ti,ab AND (osteoarthr* OR osteo-arthr* OR arthrosis OR
L	arthroses):ti,ab) OR (coxarthros* OR malum-coxae-senilis):ti,ab
2	(arthroplast* OR replacement? OR THA OR THR):ti,ab
	((body NEAR/1 (mass OR fat)) OR BMI OR obes* OR (weight NEAR/2 (body OR loss
3	OR management OR control OR reduction OR counselling OR advice)) OR
	overweight OR underweight):ti,ab
4	#1 AND #2 AND #3
5	tranexamic:ti,ab
6	#1 AND #2 AND #5
7	(((physical OR physio OR exercis* OR manual OR spa OR occupational) NEAR/3 therap*) OR physiotherap* OR physical-activit* OR ((resistance OR strength) NEAR/1 training) OR rehab* OR prehab* OR telerehab* OR telehealth OR (web- based NEAR/3 (program* OR intervention*)) OR (exercis* NEAR/4 (train* OR program* OR intervention* OR strength* OR supervis* OR unsupervis* OR based OR educat* OR medicine)) OR hydrotherap* OR (thermal NEAR/2 water?) OR cryotherap* OR acupuncture OR (electr* NEAR/5 stimulat*) OR Tai-Chi OR cycling OR self-manag* OR (dr NEAR/2 Bart)):ti.ab
8	#1 AND #7
9	(corticosteroid* OR (steroid* NOT (non-steroid*)) OR prednisone OR prednisolone OR methylprednisolone OR triamcinolone OR dexamethasone OR glucocorticoid*):ti,ab
10	(hyal* OR hylan OR viscosupplement* OR (HA NEAR/2 deriv*)):ti,ab
11	((intraarticular OR intra-articular) AND (delivery OR administration OR inject*)):ti,ab
12	#1 AND (#9 OR #10 OR #11)
13	(narcotic* OR opioid* OR opiate* OR fentanyl OR morphine OR oxycodone OR codeine OR tramadol):ti,ab
14	#1 AND #13
15	diabet*:ti,ab
16	#1 AND #2 AND #15
17	((race OR racial OR ethnic* OR social OR socio* OR psychosoci* OR insurance OR insured OR uninsured OR geograph* OR communit*) NEAR/5 (difference? OR disparit* OR impact* OR outcome? OR effect? OR predict* OR factor? OR prognos* OR risk? OR correlat* OR related OR relationship? OR determinant* OR associat* OR parameter?)):ti,ab OR ((social NEAR/1 (support OR isolation)) OR (education* NEAR/3 (level? OR lower OR higher)) OR (pay?r* NEAR/1 status) OR
18	#1 AND #2 AND #17

19	(NSAID* OR non-steroidal OR nonsteroidal OR ketorolac OR ((COX-2 OR COX2)
	NEAR/1 inhibitor*) OR celecoxib OR diclofenac OR aspirin):ti,ab
20	#1 AND #19
21	(acetaminophen OR paracetamol):ti,ab
22	#1 AND #21
23	(((cement? OR cemented OR cementation) AND (cementless OR uncement* OR noncement* OR press-fit* OR (thread* NEAR/2 (cup? OR component?)))) OR (hybrid NEAR/3 (arthroplast* OR replacement? OR resurfac* OR THR? OR THA?)) OR polymethylmethacrylate* OR methylmethacrylate* OR methyl-methacrylate* OR ((mode? OR method?) NEAR/3 fixat*) OR ((with NEXT/3 cement*) AND (without NEXT/3 cement*))):ti,ab
24	#1 AND #2 AND #23
25	(((stiff* OR mobility OR motion OR hypermobil* OR alignment OR malalignment OR imbalance OR balance OR parameter? OR orientation OR tilt OR position* OR mechanic* OR indices OR inclination OR morpholog* OR obliquit* OR stability OR instability OR control) NEAR/3 (spine? OR spinal OR spinopelvic OR pelvic OR postur* OR lumbar OR whole-body OR neuromuscular)) OR sacral-slope OR ((hip OR spine) NEAR/1 (syndrome* OR relation*)) OR postural-recovery OR spondylitis OR spondylosis OR spondyloarthr* OR spondylo-arthr* OR ankly* OR ((spine OR spinal OR lumbar OR interbody) NEAR/2 fusion?) OR (back NEAR/5 pain?) OR lower-back):ti,ab
26	#1 AND #2 AND #25
27	(an?esthesia OR an?esthetic? OR analges*):ti,ab
28	#1 AND #2 AND #27
29	(tobacco OR nicotine OR smoking OR smoker? OR smoke):ti,ab
30	#1 AND #2 AND #29
31	(((anterior OR anterolateral OR lateral OR posterolateral OR posterior OR miniposterior OR superior OR classic OR invasive) NEAR/4 approach*) OR ((surgical OR operative) NEAR/1 approach*)):ti,ab
32	#1 AND #2 AND #31
33	(#4 OR #6 OR #8 OR #12 OR #14 OR #16 OR #18 OR #20 OR #22 OR #28 OR #30 OR #32) with Publication Year from 2015 to 2022 (2023 on update), in Trials
34	#24 OR #26
35	#33 OR #34
36	"conference abstract":pt OR (abstracts OR editorial OR reply OR comment? OR commentary OR letter):ti OR cadaver*:ti,ab OR "in vitro":ti OR (animal* OR dog OR dogs OR sheepdog OR canine OR cats OR feline OR horse* OR equine OR donkey* OR mouse OR mice OR murin?e OR woodmouse OR rat OR rats OR cottonrat* OR rodent* OR hamster* OR squirrel* OR chipmunk* OR otter* OR weasel* OR badger* OR beaver* OR Ilama* OR alpaca* OR rabbit* OR hare OR hares OR sheep OR ovine OR lamb* OR goat* OR porcine OR swine* OR pig OR pigs OR piglet* OR boar OR boars OR hog OR hogs OR cow OR cows OR cattle* OR bull OR bulls OR bovine OR bison* OR buffalo* OR monkey* OR ape OR apes OR baboon* OR gibbon* OR bonobo* OR gorilla* OR lemur* OR chimp* OR orangutan* OR macaque* OR marmoset* OR primate* OR bear OR bears OR avian OR bird* OR hen OR hens OR chicken* OR duck? OR goose OR geese OR poultr* OR fowl? OR turkey* OR deer OR doe OR reindeer OR dolphin OR (fish* NOT fisher*) OR pisces OR trout* OR zebrafich* OR catfirch* OR scherce*

	OR shark* OR salmon* OR whitefish* OR reptil* OR snake* OR lizard* OR alligator* OR crocodile* OR turtle* OR amphibian* OR frog* OR toad* OR eel? OR salamander* OR veterinar*):ti
37	#35 NOT #36
48	#44 OR #47

Appendix IV: Guideline Development Group Disclosures

Prior to the development of this clinical practice guideline, clinical practice guideline development group members disclose conflicts of interest (COI). They disclose COIs in writing to the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons via a private online reporting database and also verbally at the recommendation approval meeting.

Charles Patrick Hannon, MD, MBA AAOS, Co-Chair

Board or committee member (\$0) American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons: Board or committee member (\$0) Stryker: Research support (\$0) Report: CUS7850 05/04/2022

Ronald Emilio Delanois, MD, FAAOS, Co-Chair

Baltimore City Medical Society.: Board or committee member (\$0) board member(Self) Biocomposites, Inc.: Research support (\$0) CyMedica Orthopedics: Research support (\$0) DePuy Synthes Product, Inc.: Research support (\$0) Flexion Therapeutics: Research support (\$0) Microport Orthopedics, Inc.: Research support (\$0) Orthofix, Inc.: Research support (\$100,000) we receive institutional support for a research project that we are conducting. I receive nothing.(Self) Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI): Research support (\$0) Smith & Nephew: Research support (\$0) Stryker: Research support (\$10,000) Our institution receives institutional support (Self) Tissue Gene: Research support (\$0) United Orthopedic Corporation: Research support (\$0)

Sumon Nandi, MD, MBA, FAAOS, FACS

AAOS: Board or committee member (\$0) American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons: Board or committee member (\$0) Arthroplasty: Editorial or governing board (\$0) Journal of Arthroplasty: Editorial or governing board (\$0) Springer: Publishing royalties, financial or material support (\$0)

Michele R D'Apuzzo, MD, FAAOS

AAOS: Board or committee member (\$0) Florida Orthopedic Society: Board or committee member (\$0) Miami Orthopedic Society: Board or committee member (\$0) OMEGA: Other financial or material support (\$0) OREF: Research support (\$0) Zimmer: Paid consultant (\$0) Report: CUS7850 05/04/2022

Stuart James Fischer, MD, FAAOS

AAOS: Board or committee member; Board or committee member; Board or committee member; Board or committee member; Board or committee member (\$0) Membership Council(Self) AAOS Now: Editorial or governing board (\$0) Editorial Board(Self) AAOS OrthoInfo: Editorial or governing board (\$40,000) Editor-in-Chief(Self) American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons: Board or committee member (\$0) Patient and Public Relations Committee(Self) Bristol-Myers Squibb: Stock or stock Options Number of Shares: 100 Stock(Self) Johnson & Johnson: Stock or stock Options Number of Shares: 100 Stock(Self) Jones and Bartlett Publishers Sudbury, MA: Publishing royalties, financial or material support (\$1,000) Author Royalties - "100 Questions and Answers About Hip Replacement" published 2010 Merck: Stock or stock Options Number of Shares: 100 Stock(Self) New Jersey Orthopedic Society: Board or committee member (\$0) Board of Directors(Self) NJ MLIPA: Board or committee member (\$0) Past President(Self) NJOS: Board or committee member (\$0) Past President(Self) Orthopedic Surgeons of New Jersey: Board or committee member (\$0) Past President(Self) Pfizer: Stock or stock Options Number of Shares: 100 Stock(Self) Report: CUS7850 05/09/2022

Luis Pulido, MD, FAAOS (This individual reported nothing to disclose)

Nicholas Michael Brown, MD, FAAOS

AAOS: Board or committee member (\$0) Corin U.S.A.: Paid consultant (\$2,400) n/a(Self) DePuy, A Johnson & Johnson Company: Paid consultant (\$900) n/a(Self) **Charles M Davis III, MD, PhD, FAAOS** (This individual reported nothing to disclose)

Ajay Kumar Srivastava, MD, FAAOS

AAOS: Board or committee member (\$0) EBQV Committee(Self) American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons: Board or committee member (\$0) EBM Committee(Self) Report: CUS7850 05/16/2022

Creighton Collins Tubb, MD, FAAOS

Journal of Arthroplasty: Editorial or governing board (\$0) N/A(Self) Report: CUS7850 05/16/2022

Joseph Adam Zeni, PT Emovi: Paid consultant (\$10,000) N/A(Self)

Michael Thomas Cibulka, DPT (This individual reported nothing to disclose)

Jennifer Lee Pierce, MD (This individual reported nothing to disclose)

Eric A Walker, MD, MHA (This individual reported nothing to disclose)